
 

 

 

 
The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however occasionally committees may have to consider some business in 
private.  Copies of reports can be made available in additional formats on request. 

 
 

 

 
 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING 
BOARD 

 
 

Date: WEDNESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2021 at 3.00 pm 

 
Council Chambers 
Civic Suite 
London SE6 4RU 
 
Enquiries to:    Mark Bursnell 
Telephone:       020 8314 3352 (direct line) 
 
MEMBERS 
 

 

Mayor Damien Egan London Borough of Lewisham L 
Councillor Chris Best Community Services, London Borough of 

Lewisham 
L 

Tom Brown London Borough of Lewisham  
Val Davison Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust  
Pinaki Ghoshal London Borough of Lewisham  
Donna Hayward-Sussex South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation 

Trust 
 

Michael Kerin Healthwatch Lewisham  
Dr Faruk Majid Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group  
Dr Catherine Mbema Public Health, London Borough of Lewisham  
Dr Simon Parton Lewisham Local Medical Committee  

 
Members are summoned to attend this meeting 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

 

 

The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however occasionally committees may have to 
consider some business in private.  Copies of reports can be made available in additional formats on request. 

 

Kim Wright 
Chief Executive 
Lewisham Town Hall  
Catford 
London SE6 4RU 
Date: Tuesday, 7 December 2021 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

The public are welcome to attend our committee meetings, however occasionally committees may have to 
consider some business in private.  Copies of reports can be made available in additional formats on request. 

 

 

 ORDER OF BUSINESS – PART 1 AGENDA  

 

Item 
No 

 Page 
No.s 

1.   Minute of the Health  Wellbeing Board meeting of 8th September 2021 
 

1 - 6 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

7 - 10 

3.   Local COVID-19 Outbreak Engagement Board update 
 

11 - 17 

4.   Lewisham Covid-19 Community Champions Programme Evaluation 
 

18 - 20 

5.   Lewisham Health Inequalities update 
 

21 - 24 

6.   Beyond data towards action - Summit event 11 November 2021 
 

25 - 40 

7.   One Public Estate Update Cover Report 
 

41 - 42 

8.   One Public Estate Update 
 

43 - 52 

9.   Integrated Care System Update 
 

53 - 59 

10.   Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Update 
 

60 - 66 

11.   Better Care Fund Plan 2021-22 
 

67 - 71 

12.   Better Care Fund Plan Narrative - Annex A 
 

72 - 90 

   



1 
 

MINUTES OF THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD  

Wednesday 8th September 2021 at 3.00pm  

ATTENDANCE   

PRESENT: Cllr Chris Best (Deputy Mayor of Lewisham and Cabinet Member for Health and 

Adult Social Care); Tom Brown (Executive Director for Community Services, LBL);  Dee 

Carlin (Director of Adult Integrated Commissioning, LBL); Philippe Granger (Chief Executive, 

Rushey Green Time Bank); Donna Hayward-Sussex (Service Director, South London and 

Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust); Michael Kerin (Healthwatch Lewisham); Faruk Majid 

(Lewisham Member of South East London CCG); Dr Catherine Mbema (Director of Public 

Health, LBL); Sukhvinder Kaur-Stubbs (Vice-Chair of the Lewisham and Greenwich NHS 

Trust); Angela Scattergood (Director Of Education Services, LBL); Martin Wilkinson (Director 

of Integrated Care and Commissioning, LBL/South East London Clinical Commissioning 

Group); and Cllr Chris Barnham, Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and School 

Performance.   

 

APOLOGIES: Damien Egan (Mayor of Lewisham); Val Davison (Chair of Lewisham & 

Greenwich NHS Trust); Pinaki Ghoshal (Executive Director for Children and Young People, 

LBL); Sarah Wainer (Director of Systems Transformation, Lewisham Health and Care 

Partners) and Dr Simon Parton (Chair of Lewisham Local Medical Committee).  

 

 Welcome and introductions   

     The Acting Chair opened the meeting and invited attendees to introduce themselves.    

  

1.  Minutes of the last meeting   

1.1 The minutes of the last meeting on 4th March 2021 were agreed with no matters arising.  

   

2.   Declarations of interest   

2.1 There were no declarations of interest.   

  

  3.   Local COVID-19 Outbreak Engagement Board  

3.1 Catherine Mbema presented the latest data on COVID-19 in Lewisham. As of 20th   

August 2021 there had been a total of 31,010 confirmed cases of Covid-19 in Lewisham. 

Since July there has been a decrease and stabilisation in the number of confirmed 

cases. Catherine confirmed the Lewisham Health and Wellbeing Board will continue to 

act as the Local Outbreak Engagement Board going forward to oversee local efforts to 

manage Covid-19. The Lewisham COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan will be 

updated in line with the contents of the national framework later this month and 

published on the Council’s website. 

3.2 Martin Wilkinson updated the Board on the roll-out of the vaccine across Lewisham and 

reported that continued good progress was being made. The focus is now on increasing 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



2 
 

the uptake of the vaccine amongst young people aged 16 to 24 years old and vulnerable 

young people between 12 and 15 years old. The CCG has developed a strong 

relationship with local schools to facilitate the vaccination programme. Vaccine rates in 

Lewisham are comparable with other Inner London boroughs. The CCG continues to 

work closely with the community champions and local grassroots organisations to 

increase vaccination levels across all population groups. Martin explained that the CCG 

had intended to deliver the Covid-19 booster and flu jabs simultaneously, but delays in 

the guidance being issued for the former made this unlikely. The eight pharmacies in the 

borough who administer the vaccine will continue to be used to dispense the booster and 

flu jabs.     

       

3.3 Sukhvinder Kaur-Stubbs updated the Board on the position in local hospitals, where 

there is a problem of staff not being able to come to work because they are self-isolating. 

The surge in the demand for beds, which usually begins at the start of winter, is now 

becoming acute with currently 97% bed occupancy. There is a concerning trend of more 

young people being admitted to A&E, especially with respiratory illness, which is very 

atypical. Staff exhaustion because of the constant clinical pressure is also an issue that 

is being carefully monitored. Waiting lists for elective surgery continue to grow, with the 

most urgent cases being treated first.   

 

3.4 Donna Hayward-Sussex updated the Board on developments around mental health 

services and confirmation that all services are now open. There is growing pressure on 

acute pathways, especially from female patients. There is currently 100% bed occupancy 

and new patients are only being admitted on the basis of another patient being 

discharged. The major reconfiguration of services is now coming to an end and will be 

completed by the end of the year. SLaM is also working with partners to increase 

vaccination levels amongst staff who work at CQC registered care facilities. The launch 

of an advice line to help people contact mental health services directly from 9.00am to 

5.00pm daily (Monday to Friday) is on track and should be operational in the coming 

weeks.         

 

3.5 Philippe Granger emphasised that services were beginning to return to normal across 

the third sector, but there continues to be a growing problem around recruiting a 

sufficient number of volunteers to carry out planned activity. This is partly due to fatigue 

on the part of many people who have volunteered in the past and the requirement for 

many volunteers to self-isolate because of contact with someone who currently has 

Covid-19. Philippe stressed that while recruitment campaigns had been launched to 

increase volunteering, it was becoming increasingly clear that statutory agencies and 

voluntary bodies needed to establish joint rosters to make the most of limited resources. 

As there is insufficient cover currently available at busy periods, such as bank holidays. 

The Board expressed sympathy for this proposal. 

 

3.6 Michael Kerin highlighted rising patient concerns arising from the growing waiting list for 

elective surgery and the impact the increasing number of cancelled operations was 

having on people’s psychological wellbeing. He emphasised the need to analyse all the 

feedback received over the course of the pandemic from health and social care users, to 

establish if current practice can be improved to reassure people that partner agencies 

were getting on top of the situation.                

  3.7 Action:   

Page 2



3 
 

        The Board noted the content of the report. 

 

  4. Better Care Fund 2021/22 

4.1 Martin Wilkinson updated the meeting on the latest position regarding the development 

of the BCF Plan for 2021/22. Although the policy framework had been published in 

August, more guidance was still awaited and this was needed before the plan can be 

finalised.  As in previous years the BCF 2021/22 Plan will be jointly developed by the 

Council and CCG following publication of the policy framework and planning guidance. It 

was highlighted the draft BCF Plan for 2021/22 will be presented to this Board, possibly 

at the December meeting, for final approval before submission to NHSE.      

4.2 The BCF 2021/22 Plan will focus on improvements on two key metrics: reducing length 

of stay in hospital, measured through the percentage of hospital inpatients who have 

been in hospital for longer than 14 and 21 days; and improving the proportion of people 

discharged home using data on discharge to their usual place of residence. 

   
4.3 Actions:  

The Board supported the recommendations made in the report: 

 Note the delay in publication of the formal policy framework and planning guidance 
by NHS England. 

 Delegate development of the plan and agreement on the schemes to the S75 
Agreement Management Group. 

 Agree to receive the BCF 2021/22 plan for formal sign off by members of the HWB 
at the next appropriate Board. 

 Delegate future approval of the BCF/IBCF quarterly returns to the S75 Agreement 
Management Group, with members to receive the returns for information at the 
next available HWB following submission. 

 

 

5. Lewisham Health Inequalities Toolkit  

5.1 Catherine Mbema introduced the report which updates the Board on the latest actions 

to develop a comprehensive Health Inequalities Toolkit for Lewisham. The aim of this 

toolkit is to present data in a user-friendly format that is available to all sections of the 

community in the same way, which will be refreshed every year to allow different 

communities and representative organisations to gauge for themselves, the progress 

that has been made in addressing inequality.  

5.2 A Lewisham Health Inequalities Summit will be organised in October 2021 to take 

stock of what we have achieved to date in terms of addressing health inequalities in 

Lewisham and to plan for a system-wide approach going forward. A planning group 

has been convened for the summit and developed a proposal for the objectives and 

approach required. The aim of the summit and associated events will be to support 

behaviour change in senior leadership and shift organisational decision making and 

investment, to address health and wellbeing inequalities and inequity in Lewisham. 

Catherine stressed that the summit will not be a one off event but represents a more 

developmental approach, building on the new learning incrementally.  

Page 3



4 
 

5.3 The main objectives of the summit and associated events will be threefold: to develop 

system leaders’ understanding of the scale and implications of health inequalities in 

Lewisham and their individual and organisational role and responsibility in addressing 

them; support understanding across system leaders of evidence-based actions and 

investment to address health and wellbeing inequalities; and identify specific, 

measurable actions and investments across anchor organisations and others to 

address health and wellbeing inequalities. It was hoped that a prominent external 

speaker could be secured to present at the summit.  

5.4 A three staged approach is being proposed for taking the work forward: 

i) Develop individual and organisational understanding of health inequalities and in-
equities and their role and responsibility – October 2021 

ii) Support collaborative evidence-based action planning and investment with a spe-
cific workshop/summit to facilitate this – November 2021 

iii) Identification of actions – January-March 2022 

 Organisations develop their own action plans for addressing health inequalities 
in health equity. 

 Develop a community event to present and discuss plans. 

 

5.5 Members supported the suggestion that a more developmental approach to the summit 

should be taken and the importance of fostering strong community relationships to 

ensure learning is incorporated into practice. However, the importance of not letting the 

timetable slip and agreeing a definite direction of travel by March 2022 was stressed. It 

was also agreed that the focus of the toolkit should focus on the wider determinants of 

health inequalities, which should include a broad range of factors, including the impact 

of digital exclusion and communities where English is second language on their ability 

to access services.           

         

       5.6 Action:   

 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board agreed to note:  

 the contents of this report 

 the updates to the Health Inequalities Toolkit 

 the updated approach to the proposed Health Inequalities Summit  
 

      6. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

6.1 Catherine Mbema introduced the report and informed the Board that the JSNA 

process which had been paused over the pandemic, will resume from September 2021 

for priority work to inform COVID-19 recovery. The JSNA process will resume with two 
priority areas: 

 A JSNA topic assessment examining the wider COVID-19 impacts to support 
recovery planning and commissioning. This will be led by the Lewisham Pub-
lic Health Team and be supported by the ‘What Works Centre for Wellbeing’: 
https://whatworkswellbeing.org/.  

 A JSNA topic assessment/refresh will also be performed on the topic of Air 
Quality 

Page 4



5 
 

6.2 The outstanding JSNA topic assessments, where completion was paused due to the 
pandemic, will also now be reviewed with appropriate timescales allocated for their 
completion. The updated timescales for completion will be presented at the December 
2021 meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board. The outstanding JSNA topic assess-
ments include: 

 LGBT health and wellbeing 

 Self-harm in children and young people 

 Transition between children to adult services 

 

6.3 These priority JSNA topic assessments will be presented at the July 2022 meeting of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board and it is hoped that the three JSNA topic assess-
ments will also be presented at that meeting. 

 
6.4 The Board agreed that the JSNA work needed to look at the key issues from a fresh 

perspective informed by the psychological impact of the pandemic on people’s lives, 
for example the disruption to schooling and experience of isolation. The review should 
also use all the evidence gathered over the pandemic to ensure that the groups with 
the highest levels of need, post-pandemic,are the ones who will receive priority.            

 

        6.5 Action: The Board agreed to: 

 Note the contents of the report 

 Approve the revised timelines for the revision of the JSNA process and review of the 

most recently published JSNA Topic Assessments 

 

        7.   Healthwatch Lewisham Annual Report 2020/21  

7.1 Michael Kerin presented the Healthwatch Lewisham Annual Report for 2020-21. The 
report highlighted the range of work that was carried out in order to capture people’s 
experiences of health and care services during the COVID-19 pandemic. In terms of 
work, Healthwatch Lewisham were able to adapt their engagement approach from a 
face-to-face to a comprehensive digital model around making direct telephone calls to 
residents and gathering online reviews. The report included several metrics that 
demonstrate the high level of engagement with patients and local people over the du-
ration of the pandemic, the practical support given to the local vaccination programme 
and the level of volunteering activity that has been undertaken by Healthwatch Lewi-
sham over 2020/21.  

7.2 The Board expressed their appreciation of the work of Healthwatch Lewisham under 
very difficult circumstances during the pandemic. The view was also expressed that 
the role of Healthwatch Lewisham is likely to be enhanced, given the significance of 
place within the new ICS arrangements that will be introduced from April 2022. Mi-
chael confirmed that a task and finish group has been set up to look at service acces-
sibility in response to more services being delivered through digital channels.  

 7.3 Action:   

          The Board noted the contents of the report and expressed their thanks  

Page 5



6 
 

 

      8. For Information items 

              Adult and Young People JSNAs for substance misuse 

8.1 These reports were included for information on the agenda because the separate sub-
stance misuse JSNAs for adults and young people will significantly inform the Council’s 
re-procurement decisions over the coming years. In producing these JSNAs, the Coun-
cil selected an external partner through a competitive open process in September 2020. 
The contract was awarded to Therapeutic Solutions. A multidisciplinary project group 
was established to oversee the work and liaise with the provider, culminating in the two 
JSNAs attached. 

 
       9. Any other business 

9.1 The Chair discussed potential agenda items for the December 2020 and March 2021 
meetings of the Board and a number of items were agreed for inclusion on the agendas 
for these meetings. A draft forward plan of items for these meetings will be circulated 
following the meeting. 

 
9.2 For the 2021/22 cycle of Board meetings, the Chair expressed the view that with the i 

introduction of the Integrated Care System arrangements from April 2022, the number 
of meetings should be increased to four per year from 2022/23 and for these to meet on 
a three month frequency cycle. 

 

9.3 It was also discussed if meetings ought to revert back to being held in person or to re-
tain the existing virtual, digital meeting arrangement. It was agreed that a hybrid ought 
to be adopted and that the matter would be discussed again at the December meeting 
of the Board, after members had had time to reflect.      

 

                The meeting ended at 16:22 hours 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6



Health and Wellbeing Board 

1. Summary

1.1. Members must declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda. There 
are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member Code of 
Conduct: 

(1)  Disclosable pecuniary interests 

(2)  Other registerable interests 

(3)  Non-registerable interests. 

1.2. Further information on these is provided in the body of this report. 

2. Recommendation

2.1. Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the 
agenda. 

Declarations of Interest 

Key decision: No  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Chief Executive (Director of Law) 

Outline and recommendations 

Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the agenda. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



3. Disclosable pecuniary interests

3.1 These are defined by regulation as: 

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or gain 

(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than by the 
Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the register in 
respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member or towards 
your election expenses (including payment or financial benefit  from a Trade 
Union). 

(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they are a 
partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, services or works. 

(d)  Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 

(e)  Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 

(f) Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 
Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of which 
they have a beneficial interest.   

(g)  Beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 

(a)  that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land in the 
borough; and 

(b)  either: 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of the 
total issued share capital of that body; or 

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person* 
has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued share capital of 
that class. 

*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person
with whom they live as spouse or civil partner. 

4. Other registerable interests

4.1 The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the following 
interests: 

(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you were 
appointed or nominated by the Council 

(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 
purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or 
policy, including any political party 

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 
value of at least £25. 

Page 8



5. Non registerable interests

5.1. Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely to 
affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more than it 
would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is not required 
to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a matter concerning 
the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

6. Declaration and impact of interest on members’ participation

6.1. Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are present at a 
meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must declare the nature of the 
interest at the earliest opportunity and in any event before the matter is considered. The 
declaration will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and 
withdraw from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to 
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest which has not 
already been entered in the Register of Members’ Interests, or participation where 
such an interest exists, is liable to prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of 
up to £5000  

6.2. Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest they must still declare the nature of the interest to the meeting at the earliest 
opportunity and in any event before the matter is considered, but they may stay in the 
room, participate in consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph 6.3 
below applies. 

6.3. Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, the member must consider whether a reasonable member of the public in 
possession of the facts would think that their interest is so significant that it would be 
likely to impair the member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must 
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to influence the 
outcome improperly. 

6.4. If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a member, their, 
family, friend or close associate more than it would affect those in the local area 
generally, then the provisions relating to the declarations of interest and withdrawal apply 
as if it were a registerable interest.   

6.5. Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s personal judgement, 
though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

7. Sensitive information

7.1. There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not be 
registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and advised to seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

8. Exempt categories

8.1. There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in decisions 
notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. These include:- 

(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter relates 
to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 

(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent or 

Page 9



guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless the matter 
relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which you are a 
governor 

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 

(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members 

(e) Ceremonial honours for members 

(f) Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception). 

9. Report author and contact

9.1. Suki Binjal, Director of Law, Governance and HR, 0208 31 47648 

Page 10



 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

Report title: Local COVID-19 Outbreak Engagement Board update 

Date: 15th December 2021 

Key decision: No  

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Dr Catherine Mbema, Director of Public Health, London Borough of 

Lewisham 

Outline and recommendations 

 

The purpose of this report is to provide an update to the Lewisham Health and Wellbeing 
Board in its role as the Local Outbreak Engagement Board. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

- Note the contents of the report  

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

 

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update to the Lewisham Health and Wellbeing 
Board in its role as the Local Outbreak Engagement Board. 

1.2. The Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to note the contents of the report. 

 

2. Background  

2.1. At the September 2020 meeting of the Lewisham Health and Wellbeing Board, it was 
agreed that the Board will act as the Local Outbreak Engagement Board as part of the 
governance of the COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan.  

3. COVID-19 Cases in Lewisham 

3.1. As of 6th December 2021, there have been a total of 41,460 confirmed cases of COVID-
19 in Lewisham. Since September 2021 there was an initial stabilisation in confirmed 
cases of COVID-19 in Lewisham followed by a recent increasing trend in case numbers. 
This is demonstrated in Figure 1. The case rates for COVID-19 are currently lowest in 
those over the age of 60, as shown in Figure 2. 

 

Figure 1. Daily number of new lab confirmed cases in Lewisham until 1st December 2021 

 

Source: https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/cases   

 

Page 12

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/cases


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

 

Figure 2. Daily numbers of new cases (people who have had at least one positive COVID-19 test 
result), by age (0-59 or 60+), and rate per 100,000 people of the number of new cases in the rolling 7-
day period 

 

 Source: https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/cases   

 

4. COVID-19 Variant of Concern (B.1.1.529) – Omicron 

4.1. The UKHSA designated variant B.1.1.529 as a variant under investigation (VUI) on 
Thursday 25 November. It was then designated a Variant of Concern (VoC) on Saturday 
27 November. 

4.2. The Omicron (B.1.1.529) variant includes a large number of spike protein mutations as 
well as mutations in other parts of the viral genome. These are potentially biologically 
significant mutations which may change the behaviour of the virus with regards to:  

 Vaccines 

 Treatments 

 Transmissibility 

4.3. As of 5th December 2021, there were 246 confirmed Omicron COVID-19 cases in the 
UK, 197 confirmed cases in England, 82 confirmed cases in London, with 5 in Lewisham. 

4.4. The Government has introduced several new measures in light of the new variant cases, 
which include international travel restrictions and pre-/post-arrival in England testing; 
mandatory use of face coverings on public transport and a number of indoor settings 
such a shops, banks and post offices; self-isolation for all contacts of suspected Omicron 
cases; and extending eligibility of COVID-19 booster vaccinations to those aged 18 and 
over. Full details of these measures can be found at the following link: 
https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus  

4.5. As part of our local response to respond to the new variant, efforts to maximise 
vaccination uptake continue in Lewisham. Some ongoing initiatives that are supporting 
these efforts to maximise access and confidence in COVID-19 vaccination include: 

4.5.1. Late night pharmacy opening for COVID-19 vaccination  

 

Three pharmacies in the borough offer the vaccine on weekday evenings. Residents can 

walk in without an appointment to get their first, second or booster dose. Evening 

vaccination clinics run at these pharmacies: 

 

 New Cross Pharmacy, Amersham Vale, SE14 6LD - Mon-Fri 7-9pm 

 Vantage Pharmacy, Conisborough Crescent, SE6 2SP - Mon-Fri 7-9pm 

 Lewisham Pharmacy, Lee High Rd, SE13 5PJ - Mon-Fri 6-8pm. 

Page 13

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/cases
https://www.gov.uk/coronavirus


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

4.5.2. Walk-in COVID-19 vaccination clinics 

 

A number of sites in Lewisham offer walk-in COVID-19 vaccination clinics including 

University Hospital Lewisham offering clinics between Monday to Saturday between 

9am-4pm; and the Waldron Health Centre every Saturday between 9am-1pm and 2pm-

6pm. Further information on these offers can be found here: 

https://selondonccg.nhs.uk/what-we-do/covid-19/covid-19-vaccine/pop-up-clinics/  

 

4.5.3. COVID-19 Community Champions 

 

The COVID-19 Community Champion programme continues to provide up to date and 
accurate information about COVID-19 including vaccination to Champions recruited to 
share with their networks, friends and family. A further update on the programme and 
its evaluation is included in Section 5 of this report.  

 

4.5.4. COVID-19 Vaccination Call Back Service  

A free, confidential telephone call back service offers Lewisham residents and workers 

the chance to arrange a conversation with a healthcare professional on the COVID-19 

vaccination. A free, confidential conversation can be booked in via phone or email with 

a healthcare professional - a local pharmacist - who is able to provide residents and 

workers with the latest information on the vaccination. 

 

5. Lewisham COVID-19 Community Champions – Evaluation  

5.1. Lewisham Council introduced the COVID-19 Community Champions Programme in 
September 2020. The programme aims to: 

 Disseminate messaging, information and resources regarding COVID-19 and related 
health topics to the wider Lewisham community. 

 Empower community leaders, voluntary and community sector groups and residents 
with relevant information and training to disseminate to others. 

 Use trusted people, voices and groups to disseminate timely and accurate 
information to Lewisham residents and provide community insights. 

5.2. An independent evaluation was commissioned in Spring/Summer 2021 to assess the 
impact of the COVID-19 Community Champion Programme and to plan for the future of 
the programme.  

5.3. The evaluation was undertaken by Justice Studio who used a mixed-methods evaluation 
approach with literature reviews, online surveys, in-depth interviews, discussion groups 
and participant observation.  

5.4. Key findings from the evaluation include: 

 The Programme has been successful in engaging and empowering Community 
Members to become Champions. There are now 200 Champions in Lewisham and a 
Young Champions network has been launched. Members of communities have 
appreciated the factual and locally-informed aspects of the Champions role. 

 Champions are able to decide whether to be covert or overt in their communities and 
they value their autonomy on this. The majority of Champions feel that the Programme 
is inclusive but they feel that further work needs to be done as not all communities are 

Page 14

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://selondonccg.nhs.uk/what-we-do/covid-19/covid-19-vaccine/pop-up-clinics/


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

represented, some Community Members choose not to engage, and it can be difficult 
to build up trust with some communities. 

 The issue of trust/distrust has emerged as a key theme throughout the evaluation, from 
all data types, and is a key issue for the team to discuss in the future development of 
the Programme. 

 The Programme can be seen to have had a positive influence on COVID-19 related 
behaviours in some places in Lewisham, including vaccine uptake. 

 Community members were complementary about the Champions they had interacted 
with but some felt that more needed to be done to counter the negative impacts of 
misinformation in communities, particularly those who are impacted the most by health 
inequalities. 

 This evaluation has shown that Community Champions can be key connectors in 
communities and have an important role in helping Council information reach people in 
communities that may be particularly isolated, marginalised or disadvantaged. 

 The Programme can be seen to be a good model for other healthcare initiatives, 
particularly in communities where there are high levels of distrust of the Council, where 
people may choose not to engage with the Council. 

5.5. A summary of the report of the evaluation is appended to this report. The full evaluation 
report will be presented to COVID-19 Community Champions and at the Lewisham 
Borough Based Board to take forward the evaluation recommendations for future 
planning for the programme.  

6. Financial implications  

6.1. There are no significant financial implications of this report.  

7. Legal implications 

7.1. The legal context for managing outbreaks of communicable disease which present a 
risk to the health of the public requiring urgent investigation and management sits:  

- With ‘Public Health England’ under the Health and Social Care Act 2012,  

- With Directors of Public Health under the Health and Social Care Act 2012  

- With Chief Environmental Health Officers under the Public Health (Control of 
Disease) Act 1984  

- With NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups to collaborate with Directors of Public 
Health and Public Health England to take local action (e.g. testing and treating) to 
assist the management of outbreaks under the Health and Social Care Act 2012  

- With other responders’ specific responsibilities to respond to major incidents as 
part of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004  

- Specifically within the context of COVID-19 there is the Coronavirus Act 2020 
which received royal assent on 25th March 2020. 

 

7.2. The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality 
duty or the duty).  It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

7.3. The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality 
duty or the duty).  It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability, 

Page 15

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

7.4. In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 
need to: 

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

• advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

• foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 

7.5. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, 
victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster 
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed at above.  

7.6. The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision 
and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in 
mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must understand the 
impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected characteristics who are 
potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from 
case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances. 

The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical Guidance on the 
Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council 
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention is 
drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical 
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes 
steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does 
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so 
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the 
technical guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-
and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice 

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-
guidance  

7.7. The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five guides 
for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:  

 The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 
 Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making 
 Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities 
 Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities 
 Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities 

 

The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including 
the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what 
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, 
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed 
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources 
are available at:  

Page 16

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/691
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/562
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/820
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/1461
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/node/838


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-
duty-guidance#h1  

 

7.8. The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including 
the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what 
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, 
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed 
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources 
are available at:  

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-
duty-guidance#h1 

  

8. Equalities implications 

8.1. COVID-19 has had a disproportionate impact on specific groups including older adults, 
and those from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic groups. Health and Wellbeing Board 
Members’ attention should be drawn to the following reports regarding these 
inequalities:  

- Disparities in the risks and outcomes of COVID-19, PHE, 2020 
(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/a
ttachment_data/file/892085/disparities_review.pdf)  

- Beyond the data: understanding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups, 
PHE, 
2020(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uplo
ads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_
beyond_the_data.pdf)   

9. Climate change and environmental implications 

9.1. There are no significant climate change and environmental implications of this report.  

10. Crime and disorder implications 

10.1. There are no significant crime and disorder implications of this report.  

11. Health and wellbeing implications  

11.1. The health and wellbeing implications for this report are outlined in the main body of 
text.  

12. Report author and contact 

12.1. Dr Catherine Mbema  

Catherine.mbema@lewisham.gov.uk  

Page 17

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892085/disparities_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892085/disparities_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data.pdf
mailto:Catherine.mbema@lewisham.gov.uk


 

The Programme has been successful in engaging and
empowering Community Members to become Champions. There
are now 200 Champions in Lewisham and a Young Champions
network has been launched.  

The Programme has been successful in engaging with
members of communities in Lewisham. Members of
communities have appreciated the factual and locally-informed
aspects of the Champions role. 

The majority of Champions feel that the Programme is
inclusive but they feel that further work needs to be done as
not all communities are represented. Continuing to recruit
trusted community leaders and volunteers to the Programme
is recommended.

Champions have had some success at empowering Community
Members to make informed decisions in relation to COVID-19
vaccinations and social guidelines. 

 

The Programme has had a positive influence on COVID-19
related behaviours in some places in Lewisham, including
vaccine uptake. Some Champions felt very positive about
the impact they had had in their communities. 

Some Champions had encountered a small group of people
who were resistant to vaccination but felt they had provided
an important role in providing accurate information for
people, which countered some of the misinformation people
had seen online.

HOW SUCCESSFUL HAS THE PROGRAMME BEEN IN ENGAGING AND
EMPOWERING MEMBERS OF THE COMMUNITY?  

Local and factual information should continue to be disseminated by Champions,
particularly as the path out of the pandemic is still unclear. 

HOW SUCCESSFUL HAVE THE COMMUNITY CHAMPIONS BEEN IN
INFLUENCING COVID-19 BEHAVIOURS?

Lewisham Council introduced the COVID-19 Community Champions Programme in
2020 to help communities meet the health challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic.

People living and/or working in Lewisham were trained to become COVID-19
Community Champions. The evaluation of the Lewisham COVID-19 Community
Champions Programme was carried out by independent consultants at Justice
Studio. 

The evaluation used a mixed-methods approach – literature reviews, online
surveys, in-depth interviews, discussion groups with young people, and participant
observation. 

Evaluation participants included Lewisham COVID-19 Community Champions,
Lewisham Community Members, Young Research Advisors, and key Programme
Stakeholders. 

A group of 9 Young Research Advisors – young people who lived in Lewisham –
were recruited and trained in research methods. They collected data for the
evaluation and will be displaying information about the Community Champions on
posters for an exhibition.
 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



 

The majority of Champions feel that the Programme is
inclusive but they feel that further work needs to be done as
not all communities are represented. Continuing to recruit
trusted community leaders and volunteers to the Programme
is recommended.

The Programme has been successful in enabling community
leadership, with Champions being informed of public health
information, some receiving additional training and in the
leadership role of disseminating information. 

The majority of the Champions have found the emails and webinars to be
accessible but it may be helpful for some graphics and easy-to-digest formats
to be introduced. The title and timings of webinars do not suit all Champions.

The weekly Community Champion emails and bi-monthly
webinars were appreciated by Champions, as was the
accessibility of the Lewisham team if they had any questions.
The ways in which collaborative working and information
sharing is developed and maintained within the Community
Champions Programme is vital to its success. 

HOW HAS THE PROGRAMME INFLUENCED FEELINGS OF COMMUNITY
AND OWNERSHIP IN THE BOROUGH IN BOTH THE CHAMPIONS AND

THOSE THEY ENGAGE?  

HAS, AND IF SO, HOW HAS THE PROGRAMME ENABLED COMMUNITY
LEADERSHIP FOR HEALTH AND WELLBEING? 

The variety of opinion and approach needs to be considered in
the development of the Programme. Champions may not want
to take on a role of community leadership for health and
wellbeing beyond the pandemic.

WHAT ARE THE BEHAVIOURS AND ROLES OF STATUTORY AND
VOLUNTARY SERVICES THAT ENABLE COMMUNITY LEADERSHIP?  

The evaluation has found some positive ways in which the council
has enabled community leadership under the Community
Champions Programme. 

With the emerging issue of trust and the covert way in which some Champions
prefer to be active, it is important that the assumption is not made that all
Champions want to fulfil the role in the same way across all communities in
Lewisham

The collaborative nature of the Programme and Champions’ ways of working is
beneficial and should be continued in the Programme development.

The majority of Champions thought they helped to overcome
health inequalities in their communities. 

WHAT IMPACT HAS THE PROGRAMME HAD ON HEALTH
INEQUALITIES?

Community Members felt the approach of Champions having
the autonomy to decide how to disseminate COVID-19
information was beneficial. 

Community Members were complementary about the Champions they had
interacted with but some felt that more needed to be done to counter the
negative impacts of misinformation in communities, particularly those who are
impacted the most by health inequalities. 

Further work to overcome the challenges of health
inequalities is needed and participants felt that the
Programme had potential in this area. Countering
misinformation online could be a priority area for the
Programme.

Page 19



The issue of maintaining and further building trust is crucial
to the future development of the Programme. Champions
have developed their role as trusted members of the
communities in Lewisham and have been able to give
accurate information about COVID-19, vaccinations and the
pandemic situation in Lewisham. 

Champions’ social networks, connections and trusted ways of
having conversations provide a good foundation on which to
develop the Programme sustainably.

The evaluation data has shown that distrust permeates many
initiatives and activities that are led by the council,
particularly in certain communities. 

The overall positive reception and interactions of Champions
in Lewisham suggests that the Programme is a good model for
other healthcare initiatives.

A dedicated website and social media channels for Community
Champions may help to raise awareness of the Programme,
and increase the availability and impact of reliable, local health
information from the Programme.

 
THE 200-STRONG NETWORK OF COMMUNITY CHAMPIONS IS A

GREAT ASSET FOR HEALTH PROMOTION AND THE REDUCTION OF
HEALTH INEQUALITIES ACROSS LEWISHAM.

 

WHAT OPPORTUNITIES EXIST WITHIN THE PROGRAMME TO SUPPORT
ONGOING SUSTAINABILITY AS A COMMUNITY ASSET FOR HEALTH

PROMOTION AND THE REDUCTION OF HEALTH INEQUALITIES?

Champions have engaged with communities who are particularly
marginalised, increased their access to COVID-19 health
information and health services. 

 

WHAT OPPORTUNITIES DOES THE PROGRAMME PROVIDE FOR COVID-
19 RECOVERY AND WIDER ONGOING COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND

OWNERSHIP IN HEALTH PROMOTION AND REDUCTION OF HEALTH
INEQUALITIES?

The Programme could be specifically identified as a health-related Programme
rather than a community programme.

WHAT WIDER ISSUES WITH RELEVANCE TO HEALTH AND WELLBEING
AND ITS WIDER DETERMINANTS HAVE BEEN HIGHLIGHTED THROUGH

THE PROGRAMME?

Community Champions can be key connectors in communities and
have an important role in helping council information reach
people in communities that may be particularly disadvantaged
 

A focus on mental health and wellbeing would be welcomed by
all those engaged in the evaluation. It is an obvious ‘next stage’
focus in the development of the Programme.

 

The Programme needs to continue to be applied flexibly so that
Champions can choose the best ways to engage with
communities based on their existing knowledge, including
covertly.

 

The majority of Champions felt that the Programme had a role beyond COVID-19
in relation to communities’ health and wellbeing. 

 

Community members becoming Champions and then delivering health information
in accessible, relevant and appealing ways, increases trust within social networks.
However, overcoming health inequalities is a long-term, structural challenge.

Page 20



 

 

 

Lewisham Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

 

Report title: Lewisham Health Inequalities update 

Date: 15th December 2021 

Key decision: No 

Class: Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: All 

Contributors: Dr Catherine Mbema, Director of Public Health, London Borough of 
Lewisham  

Outline and recommendations 

 

This report provides an update to the Board on local work to tackle Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic Health Inequalities in Lewisham.  

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to:  

 

 Note the contents of this report 

 Note the progress with the Health Inequalities Summit events 
 

 

 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



 

  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

 

1. Summary 

1.1. This report provides an update to the Board on local work to tackle Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic Health Inequalities in Lewisham. 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to:  

 Note the contents of this report 

 Note the progress with the Health Inequalities Summit events 
 

3. Policy Context 

3.1. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 required the creation of statutory Health and 
Wellbeing Boards in every upper tier local authority. By assembling key leaders from the 
local health and care system, the principle purpose of the Health and Wellbeing Boards 
is to improve health and wellbeing and reduce health inequalities for local residents. 

3.2. The activity of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is focussed on delivering the 
strategic vision for Lewisham as established in Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. 

3.3. The work of the Board directly contributes to the Council’s new Corporate Strategy. 
Specifically Priority 5 – Delivering and Defending: Health, Social Care and Support – 
Ensuring everyone receives the health, mental health, social care and support services 
they need. 

 

4. Lewisham Health Inequalities Summit Events – Progress 

4.1. At the September 2021 meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board, a series of Lewisham 
Health Inequalities summit events were agreed to plan the next steps for the Board’s 
work to address health inequalities in Lewisham. 

4.2. A developmental approach was agreed to support system leader and organisational 
change through supporting individual development (e.g. developing capability and 
motivation for action) and organisational development (e.g. improvement approach) 

Page 22

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

4.3. A three staged approach was proposed: 

i) Developing individual and organisational understanding of health inequalities and 
inequities and their role and responsibility – October 2021 

ii) Support collaborative evidence-based action planning and investment with a specific 
workshop/summit to facilitate this – November 2021 

iii) Identification of actions – January-March 2021: 

 Organisations develop their own (and collaborative) action plans for addressing 
health inequalities and health equity in Lewisham. 

 Develop a community event to present and discuss plans. 

 

4.4. The first two stages of the approach were delivered as part of a first summit event on 
11th November 2021 entitled ‘Beyond data towards action: Addressing health inequalities 
and inequity through the Lewisham health and care system. The event report is 
appended to the paper. 

4.5. The third stage of the approach will be delivered via two summit events planned for: 

 19th January 2022 – Health inequalities action planning session for system leaders 
(which include building in consideration of the opportunities for action from the 
Birmingham and Lewisham African and Caribbean Health Inequalities Review 
(BLACHIR)).  

 2nd March 2022 – Health inequalities community day (where the final Lewisham 
Health Inequalities and Health Equity Toolkit will be launched).  

 

An update on these events will be brought to the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting 
on 9th March 2022. 

A full report from the Birmingham and Lewisham African and Caribbean Health 
Inequalities Review (BLACHIR) will also be presented at the Health and Wellbeing Board 
meeting on 9th March 2022. 

 

5. Financial implications  

5.1. There are no significant financial implications of this report and resourcing of the toolkit 
and summit being developed will come from existing Public Health grants. 

6. Legal implications 

6.1. Members of the Board are reminded of their responsibilities to carry out statutory 
functions of the Health and Wellbeing Board under the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 
Activities of the Board include, but may not be limited to the following: 

 To encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social services 
in the area to work in an integrated manner, for the purpose of advancing the health 
and wellbeing of the area. 

 To provide such advice, assistance or other support as its thinks appropriate for the 
purpose of encouraging the making of arrangements under Section 75 NHS Act 2006 
in connection with the provision of such services. 

Page 23

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


 

  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 To encourage persons who arrange for the provision of health related services in its 
area to work closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 To prepare Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (as set out in Section 116 Local 
Government Public Involvement in Health Act 2007). 

 To give opinion to the Council on whether the Council is discharging its duty to have 
regard to any JSNA and any joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy prepared in the 
exercise of its functions. 

 To exercise any Council function which the Council delegates to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, save that it may not exercise the Council’s functions under Section 
244 NHS Act 2006. 

7. Equalities implications 

7.1. This report specifically aims to address health inequalities by outlining the progress 
with health inequalities summit events in Lewisham. 

8. Climate change and environmental implications 

8.1. There are no climate change or environmental implications of this report.  

9. Crime and disorder implications 

9.1. There are no crime and disorder implications of this report.  

10. Health and wellbeing implications  

10.1. Improving health outcomes and reducing health inequalities is central to the work of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. This report directly aligns with these aims by outlining the 
progress made with health inequalities summit events in Lewisham.  

11. Report author and contact 

11.1. Dr Catherine Mbema, Catherine.mbema@lewisham.gov.uk  

Page 24

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
mailto:Catherine.mbema@lewisham.gov.uk


Beyond data towards action: 
Addressing health inequalities and 

inequity through the Lewisham 

health and care system
Summit event 11 November 2021 

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 6



Chair’s welcome and introduction
Folake Segun, Director, SEL Healthwatch

“The longstanding inequality faced by our 

communities must be tackled together and 

must be front and centre of the work that we 

do.”

“The stark reality is that where you are born 

and where you live can determine how well 

you live and how long you live.”

“[We must] begin to think about what we can 

do tangibly as a whole system.”

Folake Segun introduced 

the programme and 

speakers, and reminded 

people of the stark realities 

we face.

Did you know? 6 in 10 (59%) of Lewisham’s children and young people feel they would benefit from emotional wellbeing support and 1 in 

4 (23% are unsure). All CYP can self-refer to the online Kooth emotional wellbeing community and service, but only 3 in 10 (31%) know 

about it. Lewisham Healthwatch, 2021

P
age 26

https://www.kooth.com/
https://www.healthwatchlewisham.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Emotional-Wellbeing-of-Children-and-Young-People-Report-2021-v3.pdf


“Inequalities are in most services we provide and 

most strands of each service… it’s endemic. The 

worst thing is to be defensive or pretend they don’t 

exist, and that's not the approach we’ve taken in 

Lewisham. We've acknowledged it. We understand it. 

What [needs to happen now] is taking action 

together.”

The welfare of the people is the highest law –

Addressing health inequalities and equity is the 

Lewisham way 

Mayor Damien Egan, Councillor Chris Best

“I’m speaking not just a council but as 

Lewisham as a place… [we are] on a 

journey towards understanding and 

taking action to address health 

inequalities that exist in our borough… 

[We will] hopefully be a place where 

others can learn from.”

“We must make sure that 

no one is left behind. 

We want to make sure 

that everyone improves 

their life chances and 

health.”

Mayor Damien and Councillor Chris Best explained how addressing inequalities and 

equity is core Lewisham’s social contract with its community that “The welfare of the 

people is the highest law”.

Did you know? As a Borough and Council of Sanctuary Lewisham provides a supportive environment for migrants, 

asylum seekers and refugees in all aspects of life. The Strategy covers all services, including the ‘Safes Surgeries’

scheme to allow undocumented migrants to access medical advice and COVID vaccinations at every GP practice.

“In reality there will be few 

quick-wins. This is a long 

term fight to address long 

term historical 

inequalities. It needs long 

term commitments from 

all of us.”

P
age 27

https://lewisham.gov.uk/-/media/files/imported/bosstrategy.ashx
https://lewisham.gov.uk/articles/news/no-one-should-be-left-behind-when-it-comes-to-the-vaccine-says-council-and-ccg


Priorities and opportunities for addressing 

inequalities in Lewisham
Dr Catherine Mbema, Director of Public Health, 

Lewisham Council

There are inequality challenges across all aspect of health and wellbeing 

inequalities in Lewisham which require whole systems approaches.

There has never been a more apt or critical time to develop collaborative 

action. 

COVID has created – as William Beveridge said after World War 2 in 

1942 – a “revolutionary moment in the world's history..a time for 

revolutions, not for patching.”

Aim

•Focus of the Lewisham 
Health and Wellbeing 
Board to address health 
inequalities for those 
from Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic 
communities in 
Lewisham

Priorities

• Cancer

• Obesity 

• Mental Health 

• COVID-19 

Actions

• 1. Black Asian and Minority 
Ethnic Health Inequalities Action 
Plan developed

2. Black Asian and Minority 
Ethnic Health Ineqaulities
Working Group formed

3. Quarterly Updates to 
Lewisham Health and Wellbeing 
Board

4. Outputs and impact measures 
developed   

Dr Catherine Mbema summarised Lewisham health 

inequalities data and current actions.

P
age 28



Stepping up to the plate - Health inequalities 

and health equity as ‘business as usual’
Dr Bola Owolabi, Director, NHS England and Improvement

“It is true that many people are COVID pandemic weary… We can be weary of the pandemic and its impact on our lives and the lives of 

the people that we care about, indeed, the lives of our patients. 

But what we cannot be weary of is the learning that we can derive [from this pandemic] and the legacy that we can leave… Of those two 

things, we cannot afford to be weary.”

Stark realities of the evidence base:

• In the first wave of the pandemic, Black men 

were 3.7 times more likely to die if they caught 

Covid-19 than their Caucasian counterparts

• In the second wave, Bangladeshi men were 5 

times more likely to die if they caught Covid-

19 than their Caucasian counterparts

• 6 out of 10 people who died during this 

pandemic had a learning disability

• Before the pandemic, the life expectancy of 

people living with learning disabilities was 10 

to 15 years shorter than the population 

average

• Before the pandemic, people with severe 

mental illness had a 15 to 20 year life 

expectancy gap compared to the population 

average

• Black African women are 4 times more likely 

to die in childbirth or the year following 

delivery compared to their Caucasian 

counterparts

• People in the most deprived parts of the 

country have a gap in healthy life expectancy 

of almost 20 years compared to people in the 

least deprived areas

“… we cannot treat our way out of health inequalities…but that is not an absolution or abdication 

of responsibility.

The NHS has powerful contributions to make in tackling health inequalities.

As a commissioner and a provider of services we can ensure that we deliver the organizational 

vision that we've set out for addressing health inequalities. [This is] exceptional quality health care 

for all… ensuring equitable access, excellent experience and optimal outcomes

Key roles of the NHS in tackling health inequalities:

• As a commissioner and provider of services that relentlessly drives the fulfilment of our vision

• As a key partner within the integrated care system… we can make a powerful impact in 

collaboration

• As an anchor institution; in many places we are the biggest employer,  the biggest estate owner, 

the biggest buyer. [Each] decision we make… is a powerful touch point where we can make a 

contribution as an anchor institution

• Deliver on the 5 strategic priorities

Restore NHS 
services 

inclusively

Mitigate 
against digital 

exclusion

Timely and 
complete 

data, 
particularly 

ethnicity 
coding

Accelerate 
preventative 

programs 

Strengthen 
leadership

and 
accountability

Key quotes

P
age 29



Beyond the data – what we see in health 

inequalities 
Lewisham Mayoresses Christina Norman and Natasha 

Ricketts 

• Poor mental health is a big barrier to health equity

• Housing has a huge affect on mental health

– The true reality and effects of inadequate and 

unsafe housing

• Removal of Universal Credit top up has lead to more 

people in need of food banks

• Gatekeeping in primary care has bigger impact on 

those who don’t have capacity / capability to 

communicate their needs adequately

• Residents with poor English struggle to get the 

support they need

• Digital divide – not just about capability but also 

about affordability. Some families can’t afford 

broadband

• ‘Heat or eat’ – families have to make incredibly tough 

choices and either one will negatively impact their 

health. 

Key points

Did you know? More than 1 in 3 (36%) of Lewisham children live in a low income household and more than 1 in 8 (12%) in fuel poverty. 

Lived experiences
English language difficulties

• Resident who does not speak fluent English felt very 

unwell but was unable to communicate effectively to GP 

receptionist and was offered an appointment for a long 

time away. Mayoress was able to call on his behalf and 

get him an earlier consultation but this is not a practical 

or sustainable solution

Housing

• One lady living in mould-infested flat, lack of resources 

and support. Lockdown had severe impact on her mental 

health; at times she could ‘see the mould moving’ and 

was even talking to it. She was unable to see her GP at 

the time.

• A lady only living in one room with her children as the 

other room was unfit to live in. Lost job in lockdown and 

was bordering on starvation; would pray that her kids 

would leave food so that she could eat. The community 

foodstore have supported with food but housing is still 

inadequate and detrimental to health outcomes

Heat or eat

• More than one family have to choose to ‘eat’ over ‘heat’ 

and have to regularly ask their children to keep their 

coats on indoors

One of the community foodstore users showed us her 

budget – after all outgoings she had just £35 per week for 

food, travel, heating and toiletries, for her and her three 

children.

P
age 30



Case study – blood pressure in barbershops
Professor Nicola Thomas and Debi Roberts 

LSBU and Croydon BME Forum

Can barbers cut hair and high blood pressure? 

Utilising the trusting relationship between individuals and barbers to start conversations about and measure blood pressure

What have we done? Findings Challenges Next steps

Trained 8 barbers utilising 

existing networks

Two of the eight barbers 

have kept up good 

momentum

Difficulty of data capture Follow up with clients

who reported with high 

BP

Regular support and

provision of materials

42 measurements to 

date:

• 7 raised BP

• 4 high BP

Demotivation of some 

barbers

Learn from others and 

extend networks

Garner media interest Lockdown – barbers 

affected by closures; 

ability to visit, etc.

Look at national 

opportunities

Keeping momentum Funding opportunities

Continued funding and 

incentives

Key points

P
age 31



North Lewisham PCN Approach to Health 

Inequalities 
Dr Aaminah Verity

GP & North Lewisham PCN GP Fellow for Health Inequalities 

Total triage and remote-by-default 

Recommendations

• Triage system which considers patient’s disparities in access

• Clear and consistent messaging

• Attempts to reduce the length of time on call waiting, or provision of a 

freephone number or call back service

• Working closely with patient advocate

• Access to interpreters both at reception and for consultation

• Face to face reviews for those patients who need I

• Outreach and in reach primary care service for those groups who are 

unable to engage with mainstream services

Ideas & Solutions from the Community

Improving 
COVID-19 

Vaccine Uptake

Improving 
access to GP 

care 

Data Strategy

North Lewisham 
Health 

Inequalities 
Forum 

Hiring 
Community Link 

Worker 

Focus group with receptionists 

CC led digital exclusion training 

Practice Access Champions

Program of training for reception staff and 
clinicians (Safe Surgeries+)

Choose well and GP Access Messaging

Improving Access to GP Care 

• Community organisations at the centre to build 
back trust in mainstream services

• Using Asset Based approach
COMMUNITY LED

• Working collaboratively with partners: CCG, Public 
health Lewisham Council. locally and combined 
efforts

COLLABORATIVE

• PCN Clinical directors support this to be at the 
core of all PCN Activities

• Golden thread to our work
PRIORTISED

• GP fellows who have time and resource to drive 
forward change

• Long term funding participatory funding budget
RESOURCED

• Community of Practice for PCNs across SEL ICS 
mentored by NLPCN REPLICABLE

NLPCN Model for Health InequalitiesData

• Coding template for clinicians to 

proactively code and identify these 

patients 

• Clinical and administrative 

guidance for how to manage a 

patient with flag 

• Proactive monitoring

• Call/recall for health 

screening/promotion

Key illustrations

P
age 32



North Lewisham PCN Approach to Health 

Inequalities 
Dr Aaminah Verity

GP & North Lewisham PCN GP Fellow for Health Inequalities 

C O M E  A L O N G  T O  A  SA F E  SP A C E  F O R  Y O U  T O

D I SC U SS W I T H  Y O U R  C O M M U N I T Y  A N Y  C O N C E R N S

Y O U  H A V E  A R O U N D  T H E  C O V I D - 19  V A C C I N A T I O N .

H E A L T H C A R E  P R O F E SSI O N A L S W I L L  B E  P R E SE N T  T O

A N SW E R  B U R N I N G  Q U E ST I O N S B U T  T H I S  I S  A

F O R U M  F O R  O P E N ,  N O N  J U D G M E N T A L  D I SC U SSI O N

P -  C id
Vacci e C i ic
2000 Community Action Centre,
199-201 Grove Street SE8 3PG

# Vacci e A eSafe

1. You can collect a free plant from WatchitGrow.

2. Free Lateral Flow tests.

3. f you complete a health challenge by your next

dose you'll be in with a chance to win a prize!

Because everyone loves a freebie!

1. As well as the jab, we're providing an

ntroductory session into mindfulness.

2. You can check your weight & blood pressure. 

3. Take a Type 2 Diabetes risk assessment.

What will we be offering?

Who is this for?

Anyone 45 and over who might have any COV D

questions and get your vaccine here today!

Book your jab by calling Moira on 07966025124,

or walk-in on the day!

Sa da  2 9 h Ma  11a  -  5

Get the Covid jab 4  

for one-day only at the ‘pop-up’ clinic  

at Besson St Community Garden  

Friday 21 May - 11am - 5pm 

for people 45 and over  

(walk-in or book a time slot if you prefer) 

Sow a seed on your first jab,  

& take home a beautiful plant 

on your second jab! 

£ Blood pressure and 

 weight check £  

£ Cuppa and a cake £ 

£ Intro to Mindfulness £ 

Get your benefits checked 

 Sign up to: 

 the walking group 3  

the library 3  

a course 3  

 

all at 

Besson Street 

Community 

Garden 
Besson St, SE14 5AS 

on Friday May 21 
You can walk-in on the 

day or book in advance 

- call Jill on: 

07904 944 771 

For m
ore in

fo about th
e vaccine 

http
s://s

elondonccg.nhs.uk/w
hat-w

e-

do/covid-19/covid-19-vaccine/

The vaccine available is  AZ, it is free of charge and  
you do not have to be registered with a GP to get the vaccine.

Social Prescribing 

Community Link Worker 

Recruitment

• Bridge between GP practices and the 

community

• Linking with VCSOs to build links 

and trust

• Identifying outreach 

opportunities

• Embedded in the community

Improving 

Covid-19 

vaccination 

uptake –

Community 

Engagement 

examples

P
age 33



Group discussion
Opportunities, challenges and needs for FY2022/23 

planning and delivery: ensuring equitable access, 

excellent experience and optimal outcomes for all 

Key points from discussions

• Need to start with the community and wrap services, interventions and approaches 

around them.

• Should be an onus for all, wherever we work, to address health inequalities (need to 

include more than only PCNs and ICS. 

• Clear, common priorities across all agencies that will lead to a step change. 

• Clear measurement of impact.

• Bring community into prioritisation of goals.

• Need to be more granular with data. 

• More purposeful engagement and co-production. Top down has run its course. More 

innovation, responsiveness and co-production 

• Financial investment is necessary!

P
age 34



What makes us healthy?
Interactive activity

Response from Social Supermarket customers

0

5

10

15

20

25

Response from Summit attendees

Did you know? As of 31 October 2021, there were over 2,600 Lewisham households in temporary accommodation.

P
age 35



COVID-19 and Beyond: Addressing health 

disparities and inequalities
Professor Kevin Fenton

Regional Director London, Office for Health Improvement & Disparities 

Regional Director of Public Health, NHS London 

Statutory Health Advisor to the Mayor of London, GLA and London Assembly

The report’s 

recommendations were 

designed to be 

implementable, scalable, 

appropriate and 

impactful in tacking the 

pandemic’s 

disproportionality and 

help mitigate the impact 

of subsequent waves.

PHE Beyond the Data Recommendations

1. Mandate comprehensive and quality ethnicity data collection and recording in 

NHS and social care data collection systems, including at death certification

2. Support community participatory research to understand the social, cultural, 

structural, economic, religious, and commercial determinants and to develop 

solutions 

3. Improve access, experiences and outcomes of NHS, local government and 

Integrated Care Systems commissioned services including audits, equity in 

workforce and employment and rebuild trust.

4. Accelerate development of culturally competent occupational risk assessment 

tools for a variety of occupational settings.

5. Fund, develop and implement culturally competent COVID-19 education and 

prevention campaigns in partnership with local BAME and faith communities 

6. Accelerate efforts to target culturally competent health promotion and disease 

prevention programmes for non-communicable diseases 

7. Ensure that COVID-19 recovery strategies actively reduce inequalities caused 

by the wider determinants of health to create long term sustainable change.

RECOMMENDATIONS BASED ON REVIEW OF DATA, EVIDENCE AND STAKEHOLDER INPUT

Snapshot

P
age 36



Lewisham Health & Care Partners:

Citizen and Community Engagement and Activation in 

Health and Wellbeing

Simon Morioka, PPL

Snapshot

P
age 37



Pledges for action

Key themes

• Extensive community engagement including feedback

• Collaboration across the borough; co-production with partners

• Focus work on social determinants of health

• Visit community partners to see them in action

• Measurable and tangible goals

• Identify data gaps and rectify

• Start with colleagues across the organisation, not just us – needs whole-system. 

• Encourage colleagues to consider their own unconscious bias

• Ensure focus remains on this week and keep momentum. It’s not an add-on

• Replicate things that have been shown to work

• Promote investment where I can

• Promote anti-racism and fight against inequalities

P
age 38



Next steps

Dr Faruk Majid, CCG GP Clinical Lead / Health 

and Wellbeing Board Co-Chair

• Concentrate on wellness, rather than treating illness

• There is still lack of trust in professionals and institutions and difficulty in access

• We need to address people’s health needs in a way that matters to them. Communities know best how they wish 

to deal with their needs and problems, and what they want from HCPs is advice and resource at the right time

• What does diversity and inclusion mean? How does this play into healthcare and the adverse outcomes spoken 

about today?

• There is much inherent racism that is being avoided; e.g. Marcus Rashford’s experience on Twitter

• Active anti-racism is fundamental and we need white allies to lead; it is often impossible due to barriers 

(perceived or otherwise) for Black people to come through

• We need to work in a way that breaks down barriers for young people and puts them in places where they can 

make decisions

• Services are under pressures but there is money in the system that can be used cleverly – we should allocated 

funds to those people who are most able to reach those seldom heard.

• One size doesn’t fit all – efforts need to work on a granular level

• None of this is new (Marmot) – we have to be brave enough to take opportunities

Key points

• Action planning; Wednesday 19 January 2022, 1-4pm

• Community day; Wednesday 2 March 2022, 10am-4pm

Next steps

P
age 39



Event feedback

• 100% of respondents found the event extremely / quite useful

• 100% of respondents agreed that the event increased their understanding of of health inequalities 

and health equity in Lewisham

• 70% of respondents agreed that the event increased their knowledge of evidence-based 

approaches to health inequalities and health equity for planning and delivery

• 90% of respondents agreed that the summit increased their motivation to incorporate health 

inequalities and health equity into their work

• Most respondents stated that ‘equitable access for all’ was their priority in terms of health 

inequalities / health equity

• Most respondents stated that ‘social determinants of health’ was the most challenging aspect of 

health inequalities and health equity to address

Key points from event feedback (captured post-event via Survey Monkey)

P
age 40



 

 

 
1. Purpose 

 
1.1 The accompanying presentation outlines current activities underway to 

enhance some of the Lewisham health and care estate. These projects are 
being carried out by relevant statutory partners but also by working in 
partnership.  

 
2.  Background 
 

Lewisham Health and Care Partners are working together to improve some of 
the health care buildings in Lewisham.  Several of the health and care facilities 
in Lewisham are in need of modernisation, improvement and in some cases 
redevelopment.   

 
  
3. Policy Context 

3.1 All partners are agreed that some health and care estate requires 
improvement and partners should work together to achieve this. 
 

 
4. Report and process 
 
4.1 There is still much progress to be made before firmed up proposals are ready 

for formal reporting and decision. 
 

 5. Financial Implications 

 
5.1 The enhancement of the local health and care estate has major capital and 

revenue implications.  This capital will be sought from a variety of sources.  
 
 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 There are no additional legal implications arising from this report at this stage. 
 
 
7. Crime and Disorder Implications 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Report Title 
 

One Public Estate in Lewisham 

Contributors 
 

Kerry Bourne, Programme Director, NHS 

Southeast London ICS 

Item No.  

Class 
 

Part 1 Date: 09/12/2021  
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



 
7.1 The outline goals to improve the health and public estate in Lewisham should 

improve the quality, appearance and safety of facilities and therefore 
contribute towards reducing crime and disorder. 

 
 
8. Equalities Implications 
 
8.1 Improved, purpose built and safer facilities will enhance the experience for all 

patients and visitors using these buildings, and as such will promote greater 
equalities. 

 
9.  Environmental Implications 
 
9.1 Better designed buildings and refurbishments to replace will create more 

sustainable environments. Sustainability is an ICS and OPE priority 
 
 
If there are any queries on this report please contact Sarah Wainer, Director of 
Systems Transformation, Lewisham Health & Care Partners, on 
sarah.wainer@nhs.net 
 
Background documents – see presentation 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



Working together to build a sustainable health and care  system 

Lewisham Health & 

Care Partners  
 

Estates Activity + 

Update 
December 2021 

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 8



Working together to build a sustainable health and care  system 

Introduction 
 

• Background to OPE 

• LHCP Estates Steering Group & Stakeholders 

• Current Estates Priorities in Lewisham  

• Key Challenges 

• Future Priorities - External Funding - OPE, S106, 

CIL and Wave 4 

 

P
age 44



Working together to build a sustainable health and care  system 

Background to OPE 
One Public Estate is an established national programme delivered in partnership by the LGA and the Office of 
Government Property (OGP) within the Cabinet Office.  Councils lead the projects and set up teams to apply for funds 
for local projects and organise the project and programme management of them.  
 
The OPE programme was launched in 2013 to make better use of public-sector sites, free up space for new homes 
and create jobs. It encourages the public sector to work more closely together by sharing sites and creating public-
sector ‘hubs’ – where services are delivered in one place.  
 
The Lewisham Health & Care Partnership Board (LHCP) was formed in 2015/16 and it was clear that the stakeholders 
wanted to work together to improve health & social care but establish some obvious economies and efficiencies by 
sharing property planning.  There are a number of steering groups that feed into the Board, Lewisham Estates 
Steering Group is one of them.  Sharing the overall planning and vision for estate in Lewisham helped the partnership 
develop a plan for fixed points, where the properties should not be and where perhaps property should remain in the 
short to medium term.    This has also enabled the partnership to agree a plan for disposals, lease exits, and 
refurbishments etc.   The external OPE funds  helped to kick start this activity and have been a key enabler in 
Lewisham.   
 
Lewisham joined OPE in 2016 and have successfully secured money in 3 rounds and have bid for further monies in 
2021.  
 

P
age 45



Working together to build a sustainable health and care  system 

Lewisham – Estates Steering Group 

Stakeholders 
• Property Owners  

• London Borough of Lewisham 

• Lewisham & Greenwich NHS 

Trust 

• South London and Maudsley 

NHS Foundation Trust 

• Community Health 

Partnerships 

• NHS Property Services 

• GP representative 

 
 

• Non Property Owners  

• LHCP (Estates Steering Group) 

• GP Federation, Primary Care & 

PCNs representation 

• One Public Estate  

• SEL CCG 

• NHSi/E 

• Emerging ICS groups e.g 

Digital, Workforce and 

Sustainability 

 
 

P
age 46



Working together to build a sustainable health and care  system 

Lewisham – OPE Supported 
Projects 

 
• Catford Corridor – Site Regeneration  
Including options for Place Ladywell for affordable housing and Lewisham Hospital improvement and redevelopment options 
 
• Downham – refurbishment and reconfiguration 

 
• Sydenham Green Health Centre – re provision of a new health centre 

 
• Lee Health Centre – options appraisal 

 
• Brownhill Road - disposal 

 
• South Lewisham Health Centre – re provision of a new health centre 

 
 

• Jenner Health Centre – re provision of a new health centre 
 
 

Through working in partnerships and within the Lewisham Estates Forum we have created further opportunities in Lewisham, in addition to the OPE 
programme. The map overleaf shows the complete priority health projects. 
 
  

 

 
 

P
age 47



The Waldron – 
Refurbishment 
and 
Reconfiguration
. (HUB) 

OPE Catford Corridor inc. 
Place Ladywell, Lewisham 
Hospital (Acute) -  
Redevelopment 
Opportunities 

Ladywell (Mental 
Health) – 
Redevelopment 
opportunity. 

OPE: Jenner Health 
Centre – 
Redevelopment 
and Reprovision 
(N3 Spoke Primary 
and Community 
Care) 

OPE Sydenham 
Green – 
Redevelopment and 
Re provision  (HUB) 

Kaleidoscope – 
Refurbishment and 
Reconfiguration- 
Children’s Centre 
(Specialist Hub) 

OPE: Lee Health 
Centre – Options 
Appraisal (Spoke) 
Primary and 
community care 

Catford Old 
Town Hall- 
Corporate 
office 
Consolidation 

Marvels Lane – 
Options Appraisal 
(spoke) 

OPE: South Lewisham 
Health Centre – 
Redevelopment and Re 
provision (Spoke) 

OPE: Downham Health 
Centre – 
Reconfiguration/ 
Refurbishment  
(Spoke)  

OPE: Brownhill 
–Disposal 

Hither Green – 
Reprovision/ Options 
Appraisal (closed 
sterile services unit) 

Lewisham Health and Care Partners – ALL Health Partner Estate  Priorities 
(overlayed on Index of Multiple Deprivation)  

Project 
Classification Key 
Acute  
Mental Health  
Hub 
Spoke 
Specialist Hub 

Project 
Site 

6 

Deptford Primary 
Care Review – 
Highlighted by PCN 
review  (Phase 9 
OPE) 

Key: Hub is a building which can accommodate 4 partners inc Community teams, primary care, 
mental health and social services.  A spoke is a smaller building that can accommodate 3 or less of 
these partners 

P
age 48



Working together to build a sustainable health and care  system 

Key Engagement  
Clinical and public engagement will form part 

of the  outline business case (OBC)  process. 

 

Working with the ICS and property owners we 

are working with the newly formed ICS groups 

from:  

• Digital  

• Sustainability 
• Workforce 

P
age 49



Working together to build a sustainable health and care  system 

Key Challenges 
 

• Aligning stakeholders to work in the same 

timescale  

• Property owners and their internal 

strategies & governance 

• Capital and Revenue pressures  

 

P
age 50



Working together to build a sustainable health and care  system 

Future Priorities 
 

• Discuss future funding applications: 
 

- OPE Phase 9 – 4 SE applications submitted.  3 in 
Lewisham (Deptford Surgery, The Bridge and SlaM 
estate review) 

- CIL/S106 – Prioritisation for current unallocated 
health fund 

- Wave 5 primary and community  capital (via centre) 
- HIP Scheme - E 
- PCN review of phase 3 + prioritisation 

 

P
age 51



Working together to build a sustainable health and care  system 

Questions 
 

P
age 52



 

 

 
1. Purpose 

 
1.1 This paper provides an overview of the development of Local Care 

Partnership (LCPs) within Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) and the priority 

actions to be taken in Lewisham, subject to the completion of the legislative 

process for the Health & Social Care Bill.  It references national guidance 

and areas agreed by the South East London ICS executive.  It covers the 

background to, the expected changes to be implemented from April 2022, 

the current position in Lewisham, the changes required, and suggested next 

steps.   

2.  Background 
 
2.1  In November 2020 NHS England and NHS Improvement published 

‘Integrating care: Next steps to building strong and effective integrated care 

systems across England’ and the subsequent design framework and 

guidance has specified four core elements of an ICS: 

 Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) 

o Alliance of organisations and representatives 

o Responsible for agreeing an integrated care strategy 

 

 Integrated Care Board (ICB) 

o Bringing the NHS together 

o Integration within the NHS, all those involved in planning and providing 

NHS services 

 

 Provider Collaboratives 

o Acute and Mental Health 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Report Title 
 

Integrated Care System Governance 

Contributors 
 

Martin Wilkinson, Director of Integrated 

Care & Commissioning, Lewisham 

Council and NHS South East London 

CCG 

Charles Malcolm-Smith, People & provider 

Development Lead, Lewisham System 

Transformation Team, South East London 

CCG 

Item No.  

Class 
 

Part 1 Date:  
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 9



o Contribute to the delivery of the system’s strategic priorities 

 

 Place Based Partnerships 

o NHS, local councils and voluntary organisations leading the detailed 

design and delivery of integrated services  

2.2 Also at place, or borough, level an Executive Lead position and leadership 

team will be established. 

3. South East London ICP 

3.1  “The Partnership will facilitate joint action to improve health and care 

services and to influence the wider determinants of health and broader social 

and economic development.  This joined up, inclusive working is central to 

ensuring that ICS partners are targeting their collective action and resources 

at the areas which will have the greatest impact on outcomes and 

inequalities as we recover from the pandemic.” - Integrated Care Systems: 

Design Framework 

3.2  In south east London Richard Douglas has been appointed as the ICS Chair 

designate and Andrew Bland as ICS Chief Executive designate. 

3.3  The ICP will be a committee rather than a body and will represent an equal 

partnership between the NHS and local authorities in any given ICS area.  

Beyond the agreement of its composition and Chair arrangements between 

the NHS and local government, its precise arrangements are permissive in 

national guidance, although it is required to develop and agree an ‘Integrated 

Care Strategy’ for its population.  It would be expected to take any decision 

by consensus, to meet in public and with opportunity for private meetings 

and be supported by sub-groups and officers of its various partner members.  

3.4  The proposed membership of the committee for south east London is: 

 ICS Chair  

 ICS Chief Executive  

 Elected Leaders (or their nominated cabinet members) of the 

following local authorities – Bexley, Bromley, Greenwich, Lambeth, 

Lewisham and Southwark  

 Chairs of Bromley Healthcare (CIC), Guy’s and St Thomas’ Hospital 

NHS FT, Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust, King’s College 

Hospital NHS FT, Oxleas NHS FT and South London and the 

Maudsley NHS FT  

 A lead Director of Adult Social Care (drawn from the six postholders 

in SEL)  

 A lead Director of Children’s Services (drawn from the six 

postholders in SEL)  

 A lead Director of Public Health (drawn from the six postholders in 

SEL)  

 A senior representative of Kings Health Partners 

Page 54



 A Primary Care / Primary Care Networks representative  

 A representative of the VCSE services in SEL  

 A representative of the SEL Healthwatch organisations (coordinated 

arrangement)  

3.5 The Lewisham council representative will be the Cabinet Member for Health 

and Social Care. 

4. South East London ICB 

4.1 “ICS NHS bodies will be established as new organisations that bind partner 

organisations together in a new way with common purpose.  They will lead 

integration within the NHS, bringing together all those involved in planning 

and providing NHS services to take a collaborative approach to agreeing and 

delivering ambitions for the health of their population.  They will ensure that 

dynamic joint working arrangements, as demonstrated through the response 

to COVID-19, become the norm.  They will establish shared strategic 

priorities within the NHS and provide seamless connections to wider 

partnership arrangements at a system level to tackle population health 

challenges and enhance services at the interface of health and social care.” - 

Integrated Care Systems: Design Framework 

4.2 Partner members of the ICB are expected to bring the perspective and 

insight of their areas rather than acting as delegates or representatives of 

others or their own organisation.  The boroughs (Places) of south east 

London have distinctive populations and as such their perspective is not 

homogenous, and the membership of the Board is intended to reflect that.  

Partner members will be full members of the unitary board, bringing 

knowledge and a perspective from their sectors, but not acting as delegates 

of those sectors.  

4.3  The proposed membership of the ICB’s Board is: 

 ICS Chair  

 Two ICS Non-Executive Directors  

 ICS Chief Executive Officer 

 ICS Chief Financial Officer 

 ICS Medical Director 

 ICS Director of Nursing 

 Acute services Partner member  

 Mental health services Partner member  

 Community services Partner member  

 Local Authority Partner member (One CEO) 

 Primary Medical Services Partner member (Primary Care leadership 

Group Chair) 

 Six Place Partner members (one per borough holding Executive 

responsibility for delegation to that Place) 

 

Page 55



5. Provider Collaboratives 

5.1  Two ‘formal’ Provider Collaboratives to be established for SEL, one for acute 

care providers and one for mental health service providers.  Within these 

collaboratives provider organisations will work together to plan, deliver and 

transform services, with a system approach rather than an individual 

organisational response.  The collaboratives provide opportunities to tackle 

unwarranted variation, making improvements and delivering the best care for 

patients and communities. 

5.2  The members of the provider Collaborative Board will be a matter for those 

collaborating partners provided the member is at Chief Executive level, holds 

a leadership position within those collaboratives and is agreed with the ICS 

Chair.  

5.3  The governance arrangements for the ‘formal’ Provider Collaboratives are 

assumed to operate with a form of committee arrangement (across the 

partners Boards) that will allow for joint decision making in line with the 

mandate afforded the collaborative by the ICS. This should be outlined by 

those relevant collaboratives (Acute and Mental Health) and agreed with the 

ICB’s Board (in designate form).  

5.4  These proposals do not assume any specific delegation to a community 

services collaborative, which will operate as a network for the sharing of best 

practice, informal collaboration and establishing core standards for delivery 

in SEL.  

5.5  There may be other collaborations of providers with the expressed 

agreement of the Place and formal collaboratives of which they are 

members. 

6. Lewisham LCP 

6.1  The Lewisham Health and Care Partners (LHCP) Executive Board and 

Lewisham Borough Based Board (BBB), a prime committee of the SEL CCG 

governing body, will be replaced by a single committee as the Local Care 

Partnership Board.  It should have a membership that includes, as a 

minimum, agreed representation from local Primary Care Networks, Acute, 

Mental Health and Community services providers, the local authority (and 

specifically Adults and Children’s services and Public Health), Healthwatch 

and the Voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector in that 

borough, with the ability to take a strategic view and have the authority to 

make decisions where they represent an organisation.  The inclusion of the 

borough Director of Public Health is considered a requirement for each LCP.  

6.2  The LCP is expected to continue to report into the Health and Wellbeing 

Board.  The LCP Board should agree a Chair of that Board agreed by the 

borough partnership, to be responsible for the effective running of that 

Board.  

6.3  The Proposed Membership for Lewisham’s LCP is: 

Page 56



 Place lead 

 Executive Director for Community Services (DASS)  

 Executive Director for CYP 

 Director of Public Health 

 Healthwatch representative 

 Voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) representation (x 2) 

 South London & Maudsley NHS FT – Executive organisational 

representative 

 Lewisham & Greenwich NHS Trust – Executive organisational 

representative 

 Primary Care (x 2) 

 Social care provider representative 

 

6.4 The appointment of the chair is proposed to be from within the membership 

of the committee and will follow that of Place Lead to ensure a balance of 

leadership from across the partnership. 

 

6.5 The LHCP is undertaking a review of community and citizen engagement 

within the partnership.  The initial conclusions highlight the importance of 

effective representation within the partnership governance and decision-

making and this will inform the committee membership and supporting 

structures.   

6.6  The ICS Design Framework states that an NHS ICS body could establish 

different place-based governance arrangements with local authorities and 

other partners, to jointly drive and oversee local integration, with the 

following agreed by the ICS as options for south east London:  

 committee of the ICS NHS body with delegated authority to take decisions 

about the use of ICS NHS body resources 

 joint committee of the ICS NHS body and one or more statutory 

provider(s), where the relevant statutory bodies delegate decision making 

on specific functions/services/populations to the joint committee in 

accordance with their schemes of delegation 

6.7 Locally we have an ambition to form a joint committee though from 1st April it 

is expected to be a committee of the ICS NHS body with ability to transact 

existing Section 75s between Health and Lewisham Council including for 

Children and Young People, Adults and the Better Care Fund. 

7. Executive Place Lead 

7.1  The Executive Place lead will lead partnership working at ‘Place’ level; work 

with the Committee to receive and manage the Place delegation from the 

ICB and other partners and represent the partnership in the wider structures 

and governance of the ICS.The leader will be drawn from the partnership 

with external recruitment to follow if needed.  If this place lead holds another 

Page 57



substantive position within the partnership, we have agreed to supplement 

with a ‘chief operating officer’ role to support the Executive Place Lead.   

7.2  We have identified key areas of responsibility covering strategic leadership, 

building collaborative working relationships, ensuring quality improvement, 

managing performance, and fulfilling governance requirements.  The 

appointment process and timetable are to be confirmed, though key 

elements will be partner and stakeholder involvement, and for the 

recruitment to be concluded in time for a shadow appointment to be in place 

before April.    

8. Place Leadership Team 

8.1  To support the Place Leader and the effective discharge of responsibilities 

delegated to the LCP, a distributed and multi-disciplinary leadership team 

should be identified in each borough to work together to secure the best 

outcomes for that population. In south east London it has been agreed that 

this should comprise as a minimum a core group comprising a designated 

lead from:  

 Social Care  

 Primary Care  

 Community services (physical health)  

 Mental health services for that borough  

 Acute services for that borough  

 Public Health (the Director Public Health) 

8.2  In Lewisham we have agreed that an additional lead from children and 

young people’s services should be added to this multi-disciplinary team.   

9. Next Steps 

9.1  Ahead of the assumed legal establishment of the ICS NHS Body on 1 April 

2022, the following key actions will be completed: 

 Appointments of Executive Place Lead and Chair 

 Confirm LCP committee status (joint committee or committee in common 

dependent on delegations), subject to approvals by ICB, boards of key 

providers, and by Mayor and Cabinet for Lewisham council   

 Confirm representatives from all partner organisations to place leadership 

team 

 Primary care representation  

 Engage with voluntary and community sector to identify a member for 

LCP who will provide a strategic representation and a voice for the sector 

 Engage with social care provider sector 

 Conclude considerations of the clinical and care professional network and 
citizen and community engagement within local governance 

 
 
 

Page 58



10. Financial Implications 
 
10.1 There are no additional financial implications arising from this report. 
 
11. Legal Implications 
 
11.1 Members of the Board are reminded that under Section 195 Health and Social 

Care Act 2012, health and wellbeing boards are under a duty to encourage 

integrated working between the persons who arrange for health and social care 

services in the area.   

12. Crime and Disorder Implications 
 
12.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report 
 
13. Equalities Implications 
 
13.1 There are no specific equalities implications arising from this report. 
 
14.  Environmental Implications 
 
14.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report. 
 
 
If there are any queries on this report please contact Charles Malcolm-Smith, People 
& provider Development Lead, Lewisham System Transformation Team, South East 
London CCG, charles.malcolm-smith@nhs.net .   
 
Background documents 
 
‘Integrating care Next steps to building strong and effective integrated care systems 
across England’ can be found here 
 
‘Integrated Care Systems: design framework’ can be found here 
 
Further NHS England guidance relating to the establishment of Integrated Care 
Systems can be found here 
 
 

Page 59

mailto:charles.malcolm-smith@nhs.net
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-effective-integrated-care-systems-across-england/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/B0642-ics-design-framework-june-2021.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrated-care-systems-guidance/


 

 

Health & Wellbeing Board 

 

Report title: Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Update 

Date: 06 December 2021 

Key decision: Yes/No.  

Class: Either Part 1  

Ward(s) affected: ALL 

Contributors: Dr Catherine Mbema, Director of Public Health, London Borough of 
Lewisham 

Outline and recommendations 

This report provides details of the revised timescale for further work on the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA). 

The board is recommended to: 

 Note the contents of the report  

 Note update of the Picture of Lewisham ‘macro JSNA’ 

 Approve the revised timelines for the completion of JSNA topic assessments  

Page 60

Agenda Item 10



  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

Timeline of engagement and decision-making 

This paper is being submitted as part of the revised JSNA process originally agreed by the 
Health and Wellbeing Board in 2017 

 

1. Summary 

1.1. Due to the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, capacity within the Public Health 
Team has been diverted away from the JSNA. The outstanding JSNA topic assessments 
have been reviewed, with first priority being given to a topic assessment on COVID-19 
impact and recovery. A key tool introducing the JSNA and its specific topic assessments 
going forward will be the Lewisham Population Health Management System (including 
HealtheIntent). 

2. Recommendations 

2.1. The board is recommended to approve: 

2.2. Resuming the JSNA process to start with a JSNA topic assessment examining the 
wider COVID-19 impacts to support recovery planning and commissioning. 

2.3. Additionally the Children and Young People Self-harm JSNA and the LGBT+ topic 
assessments will be completed and brought to future board meetings in 2022. 

2.4. An ambition to develop a new Lewisham Health & Wellbeing Strategy and Health & 
Wellbeing Delivery Plan by December 2022. 

2.5. In the new Strategy the H&WBB indicates its priorities for implementation based on 
evidence of intervention effectiveness, community/stakeholder priorities and the national 
political context. 

2.6. The Lewisham Health & Care Partnership Board (Local Care Partnership) converts 
these priorities into an annual plan including a broad range of metrics to monitor 
progress and to engage those responsible for implementation i.e. an Outcomes 
Framework which makes full use of the potential of HealtheIntent. 

3. Policy Context 

3.1. The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 placed a statutory 
duty on PCTs and upper-tier local authorities to jointly deliver a JSNA from April 2008.  
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 placed a new statutory obligation on Clinical 
Commissioning Groups, the Local Authority and NHS England to jointly produce and to 
commission with regard to the JSNA. The Act placed an additional duty on the Local 
Authority and CCGs to develop a joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for meeting the 
needs identified in the local JSNA.  

Page 61

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s51023/Item%206a%20-%20Revising%20the%20Lewisham%20JSNA%20Process%20-%20060717.pdf


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

 

3.2. The objective of a JSNA is to provide access to a profile of Lewisham's population, 
including demographic, social and environmental information. Locally this is presented 
via the ‘Picture of Lewisham’ document. The JSNA also provides access to in-depth 
needs assessments which address specific gaps in knowledge or identify issues 
associated with particular populations/services.  These in-depth assessments vary in 
scope from a focus on a condition, geographical area, or a segment of the population, 
to a combination of these.  The overall aim of each needs assessment is to translate 
robust qualitative and quantitative data analysis into key messages for commissioners, 
service providers and partners.   

3.3. The most recent version of the JSNA can be found here: 
https://www.observatory.lewisham.gov.uk/jsna/  

3.4. The priorities of The Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2013-2023 were informed by the 
JSNA. 

4. Background  

4.1. To undertake its responsibilities the Board needs to be periodically updated on the 
local population and its health needs. Individual JSNA topics provide in-depth analysis 
and recommendations for that specific service / population group. Additionally they 
need to be briefed on new approaches to doing this. Below describes Population 
Health Management and the approach for Lewisham. 

4.2. Population Health Management in Lewisham 

Population health management (PHM) is a new terminology to describe how integrated 
care systems (ICSs) and Local Care Partnerships (LCPs) can use data to design new 
models of proactive care and deliver improvements in health and wellbeing which 
make best use of the collective resources. It is described by NHS England as “how we 
use historical and current data to understand what factors are driving poor outcomes in 
different population groups. It is how we then design new proactive models of care 
which will improve health and wellbeing today as well as in 20 years’ time. This could 
be by stopping people becoming unwell in the first place, or, where this isn’t possible, 
improving the way the system works together to support them”.1 

PHM is an approach that aims to improve physical and mental health outcomes, 
promote wellbeing and reduce health inequalities across an entire population. This 
includes focusing on the wider determinants of health – which have a significant impact 
as only 20-50% of a person’s health outcomes are attributed to the ability to access 
good quality health care – and the crucial role of communities and local people. There 
are potential PHM objectives such as analysing key risk factor variables which flow 
from the JSNA, which can be monitored now and to which several local 
agencies/sectors could contribute to improve the health of a large proportion of the 
Lewisham population. 

PHM should be based on the Health & Wellbeing Strategy (H&WBS), which in turn 
should flow from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), both of which are led 
by public health teams in local authorities (LAs). There should be clear linkages 
between these three products. The JSNA should identify poor health outcomes and 
scan information about wider health determinants and health and social care to 
suggest how they can be improved. The H&WBS should provide a framework for PHM 
and within that, how health and care services, and other local interventions (including 
those which can be delivered by other Council Departments) can best contribute to 
disability-free life expectancy. These interventions should be monitored regularly by the 
LCP. 

A key question is how we identify and prioritise the health issues in the JSNA and 

Page 62

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

interventions to improve them. Options include the example set by the National 
Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) which employs health economic methods to 
quantify the impact of interventions using quality-adjusted life years (QALYs). This 
provides useful guidance, however these metrics are not generally available at local 
level. 

A further example is ‘The Global Burden of Disease’ (GBD) study, which produces 
annual estimates of risk factors and disease burden (and many other publications) for 
all countries.2,3  From 2015 onwards Public Health England (PHE) funded GBD to 
produce annual estimates for English local authorities (LAs) of risk factors and disease 
burden.4  Health determinants are broken down into disease risk factors (such as 
deprivation, smoking or high blood pressure) and protective factors (such as education 
and income). The impact of different risk factors can be quantified locally using 
epidemiologic concepts such as attributable risks and fractions.  

It is proposed in greater detail how we could monitor risk factors and disease burden in 
Lewisham in linked documents. Many Places still lack good local data about risk 
factors in particular, but through the HealtheIntent system Lewisham now has access 
to linked, real time, anonymised person level data on risk factors, as well as diseases 
and health and social care use, from the information system. Such data has previously 
been collected through population surveys, but good local risk factor data can now be 
obtained from primary care electronic health records (EHRs). 

4.3. Lewisham LCP decision-making and monitoring processes 

PHM requires a long term focus and vigorous implementation processes and 
monitoring. It needs to be embedded in local and statutory processes to ensure that it 
is not an add-on or something which is being done by someone else, but is seen by all 
stakeholders as part of business as usual. It therefore needs to extend across a range 
of risk factors and the local interventions planned to tackle them. Some of these are 
health and social care interventions, while others are delivered by Council programmes 
and other partners. The interventions and their impacts need to be monitored at least 
annually, if not quarterly. This links back to the JSNA, particularly given the policy 
context described in Section 3 above. 

However currently the JSNA outputs are not strongly influencing health and social care 
commissioning, Council Departments e.g. Education and Environment, local and public 
sector employers and other agencies. LCPs will provide an ideal forum for 
implementation, but a framework is needed to incorporate these objectives, convert 
them into commissioning, and engage health and social care teams. Individual 
departments, directorates and organisations within the LCP may well have existing 
outcomes frameworks, but there is a need for an overarching partnership outcomes 
framework that reflects the LCP’s overall ambitions and priorities for improving 
population health and wellbeing and reducing inequalities in Lewisham. 

5. JSNA Update  

5.1. Resuming the JSNA process  

The JSNA process will resume with the following priority areas of JSNA work including: 

 A JSNA topic assessment examining the wider COVID-19 impacts to support 
recovery planning and commissioning.  

 Work towards completion of the Children and Young People Self-Harm JSNA 
and LGBT+ JSNA 

 A JSNA topic assessment/refresh will also be performed on the topic of Air 
Quality 

 The previously proposed JSNA topic assessment on Transition to Adulthood 

Page 63

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
http://www.healthdata.org/gbd/2019
https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-compare/


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

will be stood down. 

5.2. The COVID-19 impacts JSNA will be presented at the July 2022 meeting of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board.  

5.3. The outstanding JSNA topic assessments, where completion was paused due to the 
pandemic, will be completed and presented at future Health and Wellbeing Boards.  

5.4. The above is pending confirmation from the JSNA Steering Group (see below). 

5.5. All of the above will be utilising the varying extents the HealtheIntent information 
system. 

6. JSNA Steering Group 

6.1. The JSNA Steering Group is responsible for topic prioritisation, review and approval of 
completed assessments to recommend to the Health and Wellbeing Board. The group 
was established following the agreed change in the JSNA process in mid-2017 and 
was meeting regularly from November 2017. However it has not met since the COVID-
19 pandemic begin in early 2020. It had representation from Public Health, Lewisham 
CCG, Lewisham and Greenwich Trust, South London and Maudsley Trust, Voluntary 
Action Lewisham, a representative of the local community organisations, Children and 
Young People’s Commissioning, Health Watch and the Local Medical Committee. 

6.2. Led by Public Health, the JSNA Steering Group is scheduled to be re-established and 
meet in January 2022 to agree actions and confirm the completion of the suggested 
JSNA topic assessments. It will also be consulted on production of the COVID-19 
JSNA topic assessment. 

7. New Lewisham Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

7.1. Lewisham’s first health and wellbeing strategy (2013-2023) was published in 
December 2013 and contained three overarching aims: 

7.1.1. To improve health – by providing a wide range of support and opportunities to help 
adults and children to keep fit and healthy and reduce preventable ill health. 

7.1.2. To improve care – by ensuring that services and support are of high quality and 
accessible to all those who need them, so that they can regain their best health and 
wellbeing and maintain their independence for as long as possible. 

7.1.3. To improve efficiency – by improving the way services are delivered; streamlining 
pathways; integrating services, ensuring that services provide good quality and value 
for money. 

7.2. The strategy also identified nine priority areas for action over the 10 years which were 
largely shaped through the JSNA and various stakeholder engagement activity. These 
priority areas were as follows: 

1. Achieving a healthy weight 

2. Increasing the number of people who survive colorectal, breast and lung cancer for 1 
and 5 years 

3. Improving immunisation uptake 

4. Reducing alcohol harm 

5. Preventing the uptake of smoking among children and young people and reducing 
the numbers of people smoking 

6. Improving mental health and wellbeing 

7. Improving sexual health 

Page 64

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

8. Delaying and reducing the need for long term care and support 

9. Reducing the number of emergency admissions for people with long-term conditions 

7.3. In 2015, the strategy was refreshed and focused on a smaller number of short term 
priorities for action over a three year period (2015-18). These revised priorities were as 
follows: 

1. To accelerate the integration of adult, children’s and young people’s care 

2. To shift the focus of action and resources to preventing ill health and promoting 
independence 

3. Supporting our communities and families to become healthier and more resilient, 
which will include addressing the wider determinants of health 

 

In March 2020, the Lewisham Health and Wellbeing Board agreed to the development 
of a new health and wellbeing strategy for 2021-26 to reflect the current health and 
care context and address local health and care priorities. Owing to the COVID-19 
pandemic, this was postponed but will be resumed to develop a strategy for the 2022-
27 five year period in line with the following next steps: 

 

1. Data collation via the JSNA process (COVID impacts JSNA): November – 
March 2022 

2. Development of a health and wellbeing priorities framework: March – May 2022 

3. Stakeholder engagement: May – September 2022 

4. Strategy final development: September – December 2022 

8. Financial implications  

8.1. There are no specific financial implications. However the financial implications of any 
recommendations arising from the assessments subsequently produced will be 
considered either during or once the assessments are completed as appropriate. 

9. Legal implications 

9.1. The requirement to produce a JSNA is set out in the Policy Context section. 

9.2. Members of the Board are reminded that under Section 195 Health and Social Care 
Act 2012, Health and Wellbeing Boards are under a duty to encourage integrated 
working between the persons who arrange for health and social care services in their 
area. 

10. Equalities implications 

JSNAs are a continuous process of strategic assessment and planning, with a core aim 
to develop local evidence based priorities for commissioning which will improve health 
and reduce inequalities. The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector 
equality duty (the equality duty or the duty). It covers the following protected 
characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

11. Climate change and environmental implications 

11.1. There are no climate change or environmental implications from this report. 

Page 65

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports


  

Is this report easy to understand? 
Please give us feedback so we can improve. 
Go to https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports   

12. Crime and disorder implications 

12.1. There are no crime and disorder implications from this report. 

13. Health and wellbeing implications  

13.1. There are no health and wellbeing implications from this report. 

14. Report author and contact 

14.1. Dr Catherine Mbema, Director of Public Health, catherine.mbema@lewisham.gov.uk 

 

References 

1. NHS England. Population Health and the Population Health Management Programme. In: 
Care DoHS, ed.: NHS England; 2021. 

2. Murray CJL, Aravkin AY, Zheng P, et al. Global burden of 87 risk factors in 204 countries and 
territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. 
The Lancet 2020;396(10258):1223-1249. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30752-2. 

3. Vos T, Lim SS, Abbafati C, et al. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries 
and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 
2019. The Lancet 2020;396(10258):1204-1222. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9. 

4. Steel N, Ford JA, Newton JN, et al. Changes in health in the countries of the UK and 150 
English Local Authority areas 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of 
Disease Study 2016. The Lancet 2018;392(10158):1647-1661. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-
6736(18)32207-4. 

 

 

 

 

Page 66

https://lewisham.gov.uk/contact-us/send-us-feedback-on-our-reports
mailto:catherine.mbema@lewisham.gov.uk


 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 Members of the Board received a report on 8 September 2021 which asked them to 

note the delay in the publication of the formal policy framework and planning 
guidance for the Better Care Fund 2021/22. The planning guidance was 
subsequently published on 30 September. This required the plan to be submitted to 
NHS England by 16 November 2021 and to seek formal approval of the plan by 
the Health and Wellbeing Board at the earliest opportunity.  

 
1.2 This report provides members of the Health and Wellbeing Board with an 

overview of the Better Care Fund plan for 2021/22 (which includes the Improved 
Better Care Funding) which was submitted and recommends that the Board 
formally agree the plan which is attached at Annex A. 

 
1.3    Following its submission, the BCF plan is now subject to a national assurance 

   process. SEL CCG (Lewisham) and the Council await to be notified of the   
   outcome of this process  

 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) are asked to: 

 

 Formally approve the Better Care Fund Plan 2021/22 – see Annex A.  

 Delegate future approval of any BCF/IBCF quarterly returns to the S75 
Agreement Management Group. 

 Agree to receive the quarterly returns for information at the next available 
Health and Wellbeing Board following submission. 

 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

Report Title Better Care Fund (BCF) Plan 2021/22 

Contributors Executive Director for Community Services, 
Director of Integrated Care and Commissioning 
for SELCCG (Lewisham), Director of System 
Transformation 

Item No.  

Class Part 1 Date: 15 December 2021 

Strategic Context Please see body of report 

Page 67

Agenda Item 11



 

 

3. Strategic Context 

 
3.1 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 requires Health and Wellbeing Boards to 

encourage persons who arrange for the provision of any health or social services 
in the area to work in an integrated manner, for the purpose of advancing the health 
and wellbeing of the area. 

 
3.2 The Care Act 2014 amended the NHS Act 2006 to provide the legislative basis for 

the Better Care Fund.  It allows for the mandate to NHS England to include specific 
requirements relating to the establishment and use of an integration fund.   

 
3.3 The BCF is a joint health and social care integration fund managed by Lewisham 

Council and South East London Clinical Commissioning Group (Lewisham). The 
strategic framework is set out in the national BCF policy framework and planning 
guidance.  

 
4. BCF Plan 2021/22 
  
4.1 On 19 August 2021, the Government published the Better Care Fund Policy 

Framework for 2021/22. The document set out the national conditions, metrics 
and funding arrangements for the BCF in 2021/22.   

 
4.2 The Policy Framework stated that a full planning round would be undertaken in 

2021/22 with areas required to formally agree BCF plans and fulfil national 
accountability requirements. The detailed 2021/22 BCF planning requirements 
were published on 30 September and set out further details of the national planning 
and assurance processes.  

 
4.5 The BCF 2021/22 plan was developed by SEL CCG (Lewisham) and the 

Council.  The BCF Plan 2021/22 covers one financial year and continues to fund 
activity in the following areas:   

  
 Prevention and Early Action  

 Community based care and Neighbourhood Networks 

 Enhanced Care and Support  

 Population Health and IT 
 

5. Funding Contributions 
 

5.1 In 2021/22 the financial contribution to the BCF from the CCG is £24,580,557. The 
financial contribution from the Council in 2021/22 is £773,989, in addition to the DFG 
contribution of £1,518,970.  The IBCF grant to Lewisham Council has been pooled 
into the BCF and totals £14,502,373. The total BCF pooled budget for 2021/22 is 
£41,375,889. 

 
5.2 The financial contributions to the BCF have been agreed by the CCG and Council 

and agreed through the CCG’s and Council’s formal budget setting processes.  
  

Page 68



 

 

 
5.3 As set out in the plan, the table below shows the areas of expenditure within the BCF 

and IBCF plan for 2021/22. 
 
 

Schemes  Areas of Expenditure 2021/22 

Integrated Care Planning  
Telephone Triage, Single Point of Access, 
Transition planning, additional Winter Capacity 
for care planning  

£5,247,028 

Community Based 
Schemes  

Extended primary care and urgent care access, 
Medicine Optimisation and Enablement 

£11,071,754 

Assistive Technologies  
Equipment and Telecare 
 

£996,082 

Prevention and Early 
Intervention 
 

Community Falls Service 
Sail Connections 
Self-Management support  
Social Prescribing 

£1,151,529 

DFG  
 

Adaptations to the home £1,518,970 

Residential placements  
 

Extra Care Provision 
Transition support 
Maintaining level of mental health provision 

£4,082,162 

Personalised Care at 
Home  

Neighbourhood Community Teams 
 

£4,188,174 

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care  
 

Social Care Delivery  
Hospital Discharge Provision  
Continuing Health Care Assessments 
Home First and D2A 
Trusted assessors  

£4,402,507 

Enablers for integration 
Population Health System 
Connect Care 
Integration programme and Alliance resource 

£1,194,306 

Carers services  
 

Advice, information and support £558,456 

Contingency (BCF/IBCF) -  To meet activity above plan £502,972 

Housing Related  Learning disability supported accommodation £164,000 

Home Care or Domiciliary 
care  
 

Demographic growth 
Protection of current level of packages of care 
Local Care Market Stability 

£5,397,949 

Care Act Implementation  Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards support  £900,000 

Total BCF/IBCF  £41,375,889 

 
6. National Conditions and Metrics  
 
6.1 The BCF plan is required to demonstrate that the following national conditions 

have been met: 
 

Page 69



 

 

 National condition 1: a jointly agreed plan between local health and social 
care commissioners and signed off by the HWB 

 National condition 2: NHS contribution to adult social care to be 
maintained in line with the uplift to CCG minimum contribution 

 National condition 3: invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services. 

 National condition 4: plan for improving outcomes for people being 
discharged from hospital. 

 
The BCF plan also reports on two new metrics: 
  

1. reducing length of stay in hospital, measured through the percentage of 
hospital inpatients who have been in hospital for longer than 14 and 21 
days 

2. improving the proportion of people discharged home using data on 
discharge to their usual place of residence 
 

In addition, the BCF plan reports against previous metrics for admission avoidance, 
residential admissions and re-enablement.   

 
7. Governance 
 
7.1 The BCF arrangements are underpinned by pooled funding arrangements with a 

section 75 agreement. A section 75 agreement is an agreement made under 
section 75 of the National Health Services Act 2006 between a local authority 
and an NHS body in England. It can include arrangements for pooling resources 
and delegating certain NHS and local authority health related functions to the other 
partner. 

 
7.2 The Section 75 Agreement Management Group (Adults) continues to oversee the 

2021/22 BCF plan and expenditure.   
 

 
8. Financial Implications 

 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. Monitoring of the activity 

supported by the Better Care Funding continues to be undertaken by the Section 
75 Agreement Management Group (Adults).  

 
9. Legal implications 

 
9.1 As part of their statutory functions, members are required to encourage persons 

who arrange for the provision of any health or social services in the area to work 
in an integrated manner, for the purpose of advancing the health and wellbeing of 
the area, and to encourage persons who arrange for the provision of health-
related services in its area to work closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 
9.2 Where there is an integration of services and/or joint funding, then this is dealt 

with under an agreement under Section 75 of  the NHS Act 2006 which sets out 
the governance arrangements for the delivery of services, and where relevant 
any delegation of functions from one party to another and the respective budget 
contributions of the local authority and the CCG in relation to the services. 

 
10. Crime and Disorder Implications 

 
10.1 There are no specific crime and disorder implications arising from this report or its 

recommendations. 
 

Page 70



 

 

11. Equalities Implications 
 
11.1 Tackling inequalities in health is one of the overarching purposes of integration. 

Each new or existing service funded by the BCF has regard to the need to reduce 
inequalities in access to care and outcomes of care.  An equalities 
assessment/analysis is undertaken as part of the development of any new proposals 
to assess the impact of the new services on different communities and groups.   

 
12. Environmental Implications 
 
12.1 There are no specific environmental implications arising from this report or its 

recommendations. 

 
13. Conclusion 

 
13.1 This report provides an overview of the development of the Better Care Fund 

2021/22 plan and seeks formal agreement from Members on the plan which has 
been submitted to NHS England.  Members are asked to note the contents and 
agree the recommendations set out in the report.   
 

13.2 If you have problems opening or printing any embedded links in this document, 
please contact mark.bursnell@lewisham.gov.uk. 

 
13.3 If there are any queries on this report please contact sarah.wainer@nhs.net. 
 

Page 71

mailto:mark.bursnell@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.wainer@nhs.net


1 
 

 

 

Lewisham Better Care Fund/Improved Better Care 

Fund Plan 2021/22 

Executive Summary  

The continued ambition of Lewisham Health and Care Partners is to create a strong, 

sustainable, and accessible health and care system across the borough which 

supports people of all ages to maintain and improve their physical and mental 

wellbeing; to live independently; and which enables people to access high quality care 

when needed.  A key element of this aim is to deliver care in our communities which 

is proactive, joined up, cost-effective, and prevents ill-health and promotes wellbeing.  

In addition, across all parts of the system, partners are committed to addressing the 

existing health and care inequalities which have been exacerbated by Covid19. 

During 2021/22, the BCF will continue to fund activity which supports the LHCP’s 

agreed key priority areas and the recovery of the local health and care system.  

Reflecting on the activity that took place during 2020/21, this year’s BCF will support 

the stabilisation and recovery of services as well as support further integration and 

transformation work, building on the positive changes implemented across the system 

during that time. 

In reviewing the BCF for 2021/22, partners agreed that there should be minimal 

change to the BCF allocations, retaining the schemes and levels of funding that were 

in place in 2020/21. Accordingly, those services which were funded from the BCF in 

2020/21 will continue to receive funding through the BCF in 2021/22.   

The BCF continues to provide resources for many key services which report into the 

Care at Home Alliance and the Mental Health Alliance.  The focus of the Alliance work 

is to oversee activity which maintains independence and wellbeing in the community, 

supports admission avoidance and avoids crisis, and which improves hospital 

discharge.  The BCF will also continue to support the enablers to system 

transformation including the borough’s population health management system, which 

has been instrumental in providing better understanding the health and care needs of 

our communities, creating new insights on our population needs, enabling more 

accurate modelling of services and pathways and enabling us to drill down to target 

areas of inequality and high need. 

In summary, the 2021/22 plan will continue to fund activity in the following areas:   

 Prevention and Early Action  

 Community based care and Neighbourhood Networks 

 Enhanced Care and Support  

 Population Health and IT 

Page 72

Agenda Item 12



2 
 

 

 

Lewisham Context  

Lewisham has a population of 305,300 people.  The borough is densely populated and 

has the 6th highest rate of household overcrowding in London. Nearly 10% of 

households in the borough are classed as overcrowded. Although the borough has a 

relatively young population profile, about 70% of the borough’s population is of working 

age (16-64), whilst older residents, aged 65+, make up about 10%.   

 

Lewisham is within the 20% most deprived Local Authorities in England (Indices for 

Multiple Deprivation,2019, DCLG). Within London, Lewisham is ranked the 7th most 

deprived borough (DCLG, 2019). Whilst Lewisham was less deprived in 2019 

compared to 2015, concentrations of deprivation in the north and south of the borough 

remain comparatively high (Indices for Multiple Deprivation,2019, DCLG) . 

Lewisham has an ethnically diverse population.  By 2031 it is forecast that the overall 

White and Black and Minority Ethnic population of Lewisham will be 50/50 (Ethnic 

Group Population Projections GLA). The percentage of 0-19s of Black and Minority 

Ethnic heritage has remained at or marginally above 65% since 2011. By 2031 the 

proportion of BME residents aged 0-19 is projected to reach 67% (2016 Round Ethnic 

Group Population Projections, GLA). 

 

Lewisham Health and Wellbeing Board  

 

The Lewisham Health and Wellbeing Board is responsible for agreeing the Better 

Care Fund plan and, in September 2021, a report was presented to members 

outlining the Better Care Fund planning arrangements for 21/22 – see following link.  

https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s86180/BCF%20Plan%202021

-22%20-%20HWB%20September%202021%20FINAL%202.pdf 

 

The report provided members of the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update  

on the development of Lewisham’s Better Care Fund (BCF) plan for 2021/22, which  

also includes activity funded by the Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF).  Members  

were asked to note the current position and agreed to receive the BCF 2021/22 plan  

for formal sign off at their next meeting in December 2021. 

 

Partnership Working in Lewisham 

Lewisham has a strong history of partnership working.  Health and care is delivered 

and supported by a wide range of organisations and partners working together across 

the borough. Since the start of the pandemic, partners have continued to show the 

value of these strong relationships as evidenced by the joint working between our 

statutory services, our voluntary and community sector, and with the communities we 

serve.  

Page 73

https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s86180/BCF%20Plan%202021-22%20-%20HWB%20September%202021%20FINAL%202.pdf
https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s86180/BCF%20Plan%202021-22%20-%20HWB%20September%202021%20FINAL%202.pdf


3 
 

Members of the Lewisham Health and Care Partnership (LHCP) includes 

representatives from:   

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust (LGT) 

London Borough of Lewisham (LBL)  

NHS South East London (Lewisham) Clinical Commissioning Group 

(SELCCG)  

One Health Lewisham (Pan-Lewisham GP Federation)   

South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM) 

Primary Care Networks   

Voluntary and Community Sector  

Since the beginning of 2020, the LHCP and the Lewisham Borough Based Board 

(LBBB) have held monthly joint meetings to ensure strategies and planning are 

aligned, to identify and address system barriers and challenges, and to share key 

information. The alignment of the LHCP and LBBB meetings enabled further 

representation from primary care and Healthwatch and introduced a lay member to 

the partnership. Throughout 2021/22 these boards continue to provide shared system 

wide leadership, set the strategic direction for integration and transformation of health 

and care, and provide a collective view on the priorities for a system wide focus.   

As set out in its terms of reference, members of the LHCP Executive Board work 

collaboratively on the development and delivery of health and care across the whole 

system to promote and deliver integrated and holistic care and are also responsible 

for the delivery of One Public Estate (OPE).  To ensure that the strategic direction is 

coherent and is adopted by all parts of the system, members engage with their 

respective governing bodies and the local political leadership to keep them 

appropriately engaged, informed and able to influence and participate. 

LHCP continue to recognise the importance of housing in the maintenance and 

support of health and wellbeing. This is evidenced by the continued close working with 

housing partners to support hospital discharge for example, addressing hoarding, 

providing deep cleans and securing housing tenure.   Voluntary and community 

partners who work with housing also support tenants with rent arrears and tenancy 

issues.  

To further ensure alignment of activities across the system, the LHCP Executive Board 

has established several sub-committees and steering groups as shown below.  These 

include partnership groups with responsibility for the Population Health Management 

System, Estates, Workforce and IT.  These groups work closely with the two main 

partnership alliances for Care at Home and Mental Health.  

The structure of Lewisham Health and Care Boards is shown below:   

Page 74



4 
 

 

 

Members of the Lewisham Health and Care Partnership also ensure that key 

reorganisation or redesign plans developed by individual partner organisations, such 

as the Council’s review of adult social care or the redevelopment of estates, are shared 

with board members to ensure coherence with the overall direction of travel.    

BCF S75 Agreement Management Group 

In addition to the overarching governance arrangements shown above, the BCF 

arrangements are underpinned by pooled funding arrangements and governed by a 

section 75 agreement.  Progress against planned BCF activity is regularly assessed 

by the BCF S75 Agreement Management Group, comprising of senior representatives 

from SEL CCG (Lewisham) and the London Borough of Lewisham.  The Board meets 

regularly to maintain an overview of BCF spend and monitors progress within scheme 

activity. The Group is responsible for establishing the overall controls which govern 

new investments and agrees variations to BCF/IBCF expenditure if necessary.   

The BCF S75 Agreement Management Group receives finance reports showing 

expected spend against budget.  Overspends require approval and are identified in 

advance via finance reports.  Agreed financial risk management arrangements are set 

out in schedule 3 of the BCF S75 Agreement.  The overarching principles governing 

these arrangements will remain in place for 2021/22 and the S75 Agreement will be 

updated once the BCF Plan has been formally agreed.  A contingency fund of £342k 

Page 75



5 
 

has been earmarked within the expenditure plan which will be utilised if necessary to 

mitigate the financial risk associated with emergency activity above plan.  Similarly, a 

contingency fund of £161k has been allocated from the IBCF to mitigate against 

unforeseen adult social care demand.  Use of the contingency fund will be governed 

by the BCF S75 Agreement Management Group in accordance with schedule 3 of the 

BCF S75 Agreement.   

Lewisham’s approach to integration  

The Lewisham Health and Care Partnership Executive Board provides shared 

leadership in setting the strategic direction for health and care developments.  The 

Board oversees the changes required to achieve better health and care outcomes and 

to reduce inequalities across Lewisham.  In 2021/22, this activity is focused on the 

following priority areas:  

 

 

Page 76



6 
 

In 2019/20, LHCP established two provider alliances which report into the LHCP and 

LBBB: the Care at Home alliance and the Mental Health alliance.  The former brings 

together local health and care organisations to develop integrated provider 

arrangements to deliver care and support for adults in their own homes, improving the 

co-ordination, quality and accessibility of that care and support.  Similarly, the Mental 

Health Alliance seeks to provide working age adults with a personalised approach to 

their treatment, care and support needs, based on the identification of assets and 

strengths, and facilitating the achievement of personal goals.  The group’s remit was 

expanded during 2020/21 to include Children’s Mental Health and Older Adult Mental 

Health. 

The BCF schemes agreed for 2020/21 contribute to the alliances’ plans and the priority 

areas identified by the LHCP.  The schemes underpin LHCP’s vision for community 

based care which is:  

Proactive and Preventative – By creating an environment which promotes 

health and wellbeing, making it easy for people to find the information and 

advice they need on the support, activities, opportunities available to maintain 

their own health and wellbeing and to manage their health and care more 

effectively; 

Accessible – By improving delivery and timely access when needed to 

planned and urgent health and care services in the right setting in the 

community, which meet the needs of our diverse population and address 

inequalities. This includes raising awareness of the range of health and care 

services available and increasing access to community health services and 

early intervention support. 

Co-ordinated – So that people receive personalised health and care services 

which are coordinated around them, delivered closer to home, and which 

integrate physical and mental health and care services, helping them to live 

independently for as long as possible.  

The BCF resourcing of community-based care services, in particular those services 

which interface with the hospital, including preventative services, urgent care and 

discharge services, will continue to be closely monitored to assess capacity, demand 

and effectiveness.   The BCF funding which is available to respond to Winter pressures 

is overseen by a joint Unplanned Care Board with representatives from acute, 

community and social care.  

 

Health Inequalities 

Lewisham’s Health and Wellbeing Board, supported by health and care partners, 

remains committed to tackling health inequalities, particularly the health inequalities of 

Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic communities who are at greater risk from health 

conditions such as diabetes, hypertension and stroke. 

Page 77



7 
 

Life Expectancy - For male residents, life expectancy is significantly lower than 

the national average (ONS, 2017-19). There are big variations in life 

expectancy throughout the borough: men in Crofton Park ward can expect to 

live for 6 years longer than those in New Cross ward, and women in Perry Vale 

ward can be expected to live 8.5 years more than women in New Cross ward.  

Cardiovascular and respiratory diseases - The rate of premature death from 

cardiovascular and respiratory diseases in Lewisham are higher than the 

average for London and England. 

 

Smoking and Obesity (adults) - Smoking and obesity contribute significantly 

to premature mortality and morbidity in Lewisham. These health risks are also 

strongly linked with poor COVID-19 outcomes. Lewisham has a higher 

proportion of smokers and higher levels of adult obesity than most areas in 

London.  

 

Diabetes - Diabetes is also a known risk factor for COVID-19 outcomes. Nearly 

1 in 10 people in Lewisham are estimated to have diabetes (T1 & T2, including 

those currently undiagnosed).  58% of our population with type 2 diabetes are 

estimated to be of ethnic minority origin.  

 

Mental Health – Lewisham is one of the most ethnically diverse areas of the 

country, with 46% of the total population from BAME heritage. This percentage 

differs with age as over 65% of 0–19-year-olds are from BAME heritage. In 

Lewisham, there is an overrepresentation of people from BAME heritage in 

crisis acute adult mental health services, with an underrepresentation in  

Primary Care Mental Health Services and IAPT. 

Long term conditions - 14.5% of residents are living with a long-term condition 

which limits their daily activities (Proxy question for disability 2011 Census)  

The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted and exacerbated the health inequalities across 

the population (socio-economic, ethnic, socially excluded and vulnerable). Since 

March 2020, Lewisham Health and Care Partners have recognised the direct impact 

of COVID-19 on both physical and mental health.  

 

Consequently, Lewisham is working in partnership with public health teams across 

South East London and colleagues in Kings Health Partnership on an in depth analysis 

of inequalities across SEL. An evidence review of interventions known to effectively 

tackle inequalities is also being undertaken.  This will provide a detailed profile of the 

impact of COVID-19 and a menu of options to incorporate into recovery plans.  The 

BCF schemes will also be reviewed to consider those options.  

 

Lewisham Borough and Birmingham City Councils are also undertaking ground-

breaking work into the health inequalities of African & Caribbean communities. The 

Page 78



8 
 

programme, which will conclude in February/March 2021, consists of a series of 

reviews which aim to explore in-depth the inequalities experienced by these ethnic 

groups and their drivers.  The review topics include mental health and wellbeing and 

chronic health, amongst others.  The aim is to find approaches to break the decades 

of inequality in sustainable ways that will lead to better futures for local citizens.  

The pandemic also highlighted the need for and the effectiveness of targeted listening 

and working with disadvantaged individuals and communities to co-create community 

centred approaches that use lived experience expertise and community assets to 

develop and deliver sustainable approaches. 

To further support Lewisham’s focus on reducing health inequalities, a Health 

Inequalities Toolkit and Health Inequalities Summit are being developed.  The Health 

Inequalities Toolkit will provide a data overview of existing health inequalities 

Lewisham. The aim of this toolkit is to present data in a user-friendly format that can 

be used by community members and inform data insights for the joint work with 

Birmingham. Health Inequalities Toolkit_270821.pdf (lewisham.gov.uk) 

 
Funding Contributions  

 

In 2021/22 the financial contribution to the BCF from the CCG is £24,580,557. The 
financial contribution from the Council in 2021/22 is £773,989, in addition to the DFG 
contribution of £1,518,970.  The IBCF grant to Lewisham Council has been pooled 
into the BCF and totals £14,502,373. The total BCF pooled budget for 2021/22 is 
£41,375,889. 

   
The financial contributions to the BCF have been agreed by the CCG and Council and 
agreed through the CCG’s and Council’s formal budget setting processes.   

 
The table below shows the areas of expenditure within the BCF and IBCF plan for 

2021/22 

 

Scheme and ref 
numbers 

Areas of Expenditure 2021/22 

Integrated Care 
Planning and Navigation 
-1,7,14,31,41 

Telephone Triage, Single Point of Access, 
Transition planning, additional Winter 
Capacity for care planning  

£5,247,028 

Community Based 
Schemes -
2,10,12,13,19,36 

Extended primary care and urgent care 

access, Medicine Optimisation and 

Enablement 

£11,071,754 

Assistive Technologies 
– 3,40 

Equipment and Telecare 
 

£996,082 

Prevention and Early 
Intervention 

Community Falls Service 
Sail Connections 

£1,151,529 

Page 79

https://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s86182/Health%20Inequalities%20Toolkit_270821.pdf


9 
 

-4,5,6,44,47 
 

Self-Management support  
Social Prescribing 

DFG -11 
 

Adaptations to the home £1,518,970 

Residential placements 
-15,26,30 
 

Extra Care Provision 
Transition support 
Maintaining level of mental health provision 

£4,082,162 

Personalised Care at 
Home – 8,9 

Neighbourhood Community Teams 
 

£4,188,174 

High Impact Change 
Model for Managing 
Transfer of Care - 
16,17,18,27,33,34,48,49 

Social Care Delivery  
Hospital Discharge Provision  
Continuing Health Care Assessments 
Home First and D2A 
Trusted assessors  

£4,402,507 

Enablers for integration 
- 21,22,23,42 

 

Population Health System 
Connect Care 
Integration programme and Alliance 
resource 

£1,194,306 

Carers services - 24 
 

Advice, information and support £558,456 

Contingency 
(BCF/IBCF) - 25,37 

To meet activity above plan £502,972 

Housing Related - 28,29 
Learning disability supported 
accommodation 

£164,000 

Home Care or 
Domiciliary care - 
32,35,38,39 
 

Demographic growth 
Protection of current level of packages of 
care 
Local Care Market Stability 

£5,397,949 

Care Act 
Implementation - 45 

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards support  £900,000 

Total BCF/IBCF  £41,375,889 

 

NOTE:  Schemes 20, 43 and 46 which appeared in the 19/20 plan have been deleted.  

These schemes totalled just under £180k and provided initial resources to support the 

development of the Waldron as a neighbourhood hub (£60k), and resources to support 

the development of the provider alliances (£120k) which have now been established 

and which are now supported by Lewisham’s system transformation team and 

integrated commissioning team. This funding has been reallocated across other 

schemes. 

Metrics 

The Delayed Transfers of Care metric was suspended in March 2020 and for 

2021/22 has been replaced with two new metrics:  

Page 80



10 
 

1. reducing length of stay in hospital, measured through the percentage of 

hospital inpatients who have been in hospital for longer than 14 and 21 

days 

2. improving the proportion of people discharged home using data on 

discharge to their usual place of residence 

 

In addition, the BCF reports against previous metrics for admission avoidance, 

residential admissions and re-enablement.   

21-22 plans for Metrics 

Avoidable admissions 

 

 

Lewisham’s BCF plan uses data from 2019/20 which has made it difficult to assess a 

predicted reduction for 2021/22. The 2020/21 data will be reviewed as soon as 

possible.  

In terms of local challenges, there are increased attendances to A&E following the 

COVID spikes, in part caused by high numbers of NHS 111 referrals to A&E. Use of 

111 is almost double this year compared to last, and the algorithm used by 111 results 

in high numbers attending A&E, with proportionately higher numbers being admitted 

as a result.  This issue is being addressed at regional and national levels.  Lewisham’s 

Urgent Community Response service (UCR) is continuing to expand.  However started 

from a small baseline which led initially to fewer early interventions in the community 

than other neighbouring boroughs which have more well-established UCRs.  Locally, 

due to COVID, a focus on developing a more proactive and comprehensive Frailty 

pathway had to be put on hold, although this work has now re-started.  However, this 

594.4

751.7 760.1 791.7

1069.1
1082.2

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

C
it

y 
o

f 
Lo

n
d

o
n

K
en

si
n

gt
o

n
 a

n
d

 C
h

el
se

a

W
es

tm
in

st
er

To
w

er
 H

am
le

ts

H
am

m
e

rs
m

it
h

 a
n

d
 F

u
lh

am

H
o

u
n

sl
o

w

H
ac

kn
ey

R
ic

h
m

o
n

d
 u

p
o

n
 T

h
am

es

B
ar

n
e

t

C
am

d
e

n

B
ro

m
le

y

B
ra

ck
n

el
l F

o
re

st

H
ar

in
ge

y

B
re

n
t

En
fi

el
d

Le
w

is
h

am

K
in

gs
to

n
 u

p
o

n
 T

h
am

es

B
ex

le
y

Is
lin

gt
o

n

R
ed

b
ri

d
ge

H
av

er
in

g

G
re

en
w

ic
h

H
ar

ro
w

C
ro

yd
o

n

W
an

d
sw

o
rt

h

N
e

w
h

am

Ea
lin

g

H
ill

in
gd

o
n

W
al

th
am

 F
o

re
st

M
er

to
n

So
u

th
w

ar
k

B
ar

ki
n

g 
an

d
 D

ag
en

h
am

La
m

b
et

h

Avoidable admissions rate 2019/20

Page 81



11 
 

work is being taken forward initially as a pilot which therefore will pro-actively target 

only small numbers of people with frailty until the model is fully tested.  

Through the local Discharge Improvement Plan and implementation of the EHCH 

work, there is a range of targeted work being undertaken locally to reduce avoidable 

admissions.  This includes a focus on reducing admissions from care homes and the 

community through closer working links between the GP Home Visiting Service and 

the UCR to ensure that appropriate referrals are made swiftly to the UCR.  In addition, 

early work is in place to improve step-up referrals to the Enablement team, and 

additional capacity has been provided for therapies, to ensure that there is earlier 

intervention from a therapist in the community when needed. Given this work, a 

reduction from 751 in 2019/20 to 735 for 2021/22 is proposed. This is a reduction of 

16 (or 2%) since 2020 which is considered realistic. 

Lengths of Stay (LOS) 

 

 

 Actuals for Lewisham for 2021/22 Q1 & 2 for 21+ LOS was an average of 6.0%. 

This position is a major improvement on the same period in the previous two  years, 

which were respectively 6.9% (19/20) and 6.4% (20/21). 

 Actuals for Lewisham for 2021/22 Q1 & 2 for 14+ LOS was an average of 10.5%. 

This position is a major improvement on the same period in the previous two  years, 

which were respectively 11.1% (19/20) and 11.3% (20/21). 

 

Expected pressures on the system includes unusually high ED attendances for this 

time of year. COVID rates are increasing nationally, and we also expect severe winter 

weather.  

 

Lewisham has particularly long length of stay compared to other neighbouring 

hospitals as it is a stroke hospital, with challenges in discharging long-stay patients 

with serious neurological conditions to other specialist centres. 

 

0.0%
2.0%
4.0%
6.0%
8.0%

10.0%
12.0%
14.0%
16.0%

Lewisham patients LOS 14+ & 21+

LOS 14+ LOS 21+ Linear (LOS 14+) Linear (LOS 21+)

Page 82



12 
 

However, there is focused work ongoing to improve flow both within the hospital and 

in the community, which includes: 

 

 Ward-based pilot to improve pre-discharge planning (currently 

expanded from one ward to two) 

 Recruitment of ward-based navigators expected by December 

 Discharge Improvement plan being delivered, with improved processes 

for discharge implemented 

 Community capacity bolstered (enablement & therapies) and further 

expansion of Enhanced Care provision 

 Weekly Length of Stay escalation meetings with senior leadership. 

 

The expected additional winter pressures will be mitigated by the improvement activity 

already underway. Given the last 18 months’ of improvement, we can expect a 

continued gradual improvement in performance.   

The forecasts proposed by the BCF team for Lewisham in Q3&4 for 21+ LOS are 6.1% 

and 6.0%. This appears achievable based on good progress made in reducing LOS 

21+ over the last two years.  While this still puts Lewisham above national and regional 

averages, it is an improvement on previous years and has been agreed by Lewisham 

and Greenwich NHS Trust based on ongoing activity being undertaken to reduce LOS. 

The forecasts proposed by the BCF team for Lewisham in Q3&4 for 14+ LOS are 

10.9% and 10.8%. This appears achievable based on the good progress made in 

reducing LOS 14+ over the last two years.  This puts Lewisham in a better position 

than national and regional averages.  It is an improvement on previous years and has 

been agreed by Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust based on ongoing activity being 

undertaken to reduce LOS. 

Plans for reducing LOS have been agreed by Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust 

and HWB partners.  These plans have been developed and led by the Care at Home 

Alliance Leadership Group and the Unplanned Care Board.  Both these boards include 

representation from all Lewisham health and care system partners. 

 

  

Page 83



13 
 

 

Discharge to normal place of residence 

 

 

 

Actuals for Lewisham’s last two quarters show averages of 80.5% and 92.8% . 

Work is ongoing to improve patients being discharged to their usual place of residence 

and includes: 

o Screening of all Pathway 3 discharges 

o Community capacity bolstered (enablement & therapies) and further 

expansion of Enhanced Care provision 

 

An improvement can be expected given the local focus on discharge processes 

currently taking place. The latest month’s performance given is 94%.  Lewisham has 

a higher proportion of care home residents than many other boroughs.  Some level of 

improvement is achievable but the baseline position means many patients will be 

discharged back to their existing care home via Pathway 3.  An improvement of 0.5% 

given the impact of ongoing improvement work is considered reasonable and a target 

of 94.5% has been agreed by Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust in agreement with 

HWB partners.  

Number of Care Home admissions per 100,000 

Due to COVID, high numbers of people entered care homes in 2020/21, and therefore 

Lewisham has started in a worse position for 2021/22 than expected.  As set out 

above, work is ongoing to reduce the number of people entering care homes and 

investment this year is being focused on providing more intensive care packages to 

help people return home and remain more independent, and on increasing the use of 

step-down facilities from hospital. The Council has set a target of 671/100,000 for 

0.0%

20.0%

40.0%

60.0%

80.0%

100.0%

A
p

r-
1

9

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n

-1
9

Ju
l-

1
9

A
u

g-
1

9

Se
p

-1
9

O
ct

-1
9

N
o

v-
1

9

D
ec

-1
9

Ja
n

-2
0

Fe
b

-2
0

M
ar

-2
0

A
p

r-
2

0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
n

-2
0

Ju
l-

2
0

A
u

g-
2

0

Se
p

-2
0

O
ct

-2
0

N
o

v-
2

0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n

-2
1

Fe
b

-2
1

M
ar

-2
1

A
p

r-
2

1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n

-2
1

Ju
l-

2
1

A
u

g-
2

1

Lewisham patients - proportion discharged to usual place of 
residence

Sum of Usual_place_of_residence

Page 84



14 
 

2021/22 in agreement with HWB partners. This is a reduction on 2020/21, and is 

considered a challenging target, but work is being undertaken to support delivery of 

this, including: 

o Screening of all Pathway 3 discharges 

o Community capacity bolstered (enablement & therapies) and further 

expansion of Enhanced Care provision 

o Expansion of Urgent Community Response (UCR) service 

o Closer links between GP Home Visiting service and the UCR 

o Remote monitoring systems in place 

o Step-up pathway developed to enablement/therapies service 

 

Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days after discharge 

from hospital 

Following COVID, Lewisham's plans are to increase discharges supported by 

enablement/rehab during 2021/22. Work is underway to grow and transform the 

services to support more complex discharges. 

The target set by the Council in agreement with HWB partners is to achieve 80% for 

2021/22. 

Ongoing work to monitor the effectiveness of Lewisham’s Enablement team shows 

that there is an increasing improvement throughout the year in older people remaining 

at home after an Enablement episode. Further work is ongoing to improve patient 

outcomes following enablement still further, and the Council and HWB partners are 

therefore confident that this target is both stretching but achievable. 

 

Lewisham’s plans for 2021/22 against the metrics are shown below:  

Metric  20-21 

Actual 

21-22 

Plan 

Narrative  

Unplanned 

hospitalisation 

for chronic 

ambulatory 

care sensitive 

conditions 

 751.7 735.0 Lewisham has seen significant 

investment in community support to 

improve admission avoidance, 

including new referral pathways from 

community to enablement teams, 

Urgent Community Response service 

expansion, and work with therapies to 

better support the enablement service.  

However, this must be set against 

unusually high ED attendances 

currently, a proportion of which convert 

to admissions. 

Page 85



15 
 

  21-22 Q3 
Plan 

21-22 
Q4 
Plan 

 

Percentage of 

in patients, 

resident in the 

HWB, who 

have been an 

inpatient in an 

acute hospital 

for: 

i) 14 days or 

more 

 ii) 21 days or 

more 

As a 

percentage of 

all inpatients 

 

 

 

 

 

Poof 
Proportion of 
inpatients 
resident for 
14 days or 
more 
inpatients 
Proportion of 
inpatients 
resident for 
21 days or 
moreresident 
for 14 days 
or more 

 

 

10.9% 

 

 

 

 

 

6.1% 

 

10.8% 

 

 

 

 

 

6.0% 

 

Work is ongoing to improve flow both 

within and outside the hospital.  This 

includes: a ward-based pilot to improve 

pre-planning for discharge, recruitment 

of ward-based care navigators 

expected by December, bolstering of 

community capacity including support 

to enablement and investment in 

therapies.  A weekly LOS escalation 

meeting takes place with senior 

representation to ensure that any 

issues preventing discharge of long-

stay patients is managed. 

   21-22 
Plan 
 

 

Percentage of 

people, 

resident in the 

HWB, who 

are 

discharged 

from acute 

hospital to 

their normal 

place of 

residence 

 

 

  94.5% The BCF funds an extensive range of 

services which support people to be 

discharged home safely including the 

provision of equipment, enablement 

and therapies support, and 

intermediate care provision.  Additional 

screening of all Pathway 3 discharges 

is taking place and additional 

Enhanced Care provision has been put 

in place.  Lewisham has a higher 

proportion of care home residents than 

many other Boroughs.  Some level of 

improvement is achievable, but the 

baseline position means many patients 

will be discharged back to their existing 

care home via Pathway 3. 

  20-21 
Actual 

21-22 
Plan 

 

Long-term 

support 

needs of older 

people (age 

 998 671 Due to COVID, high numbers of people 

entered care homes in 2020/21.  In 

2021/22 Lewisham is using more step-

down facilities and providing more 

Page 86



16 
 

65 and 

over) met by 

admission to 

residential 

and nursing 

care homes, 

per 100,000 

population 

intensive care packages to help people 

return home and remain more 

independent. 

  19-20 
Actual 

21-22 
Plan 

 

Proportion of 

older people 

(65 and over) 

who were still 

at home 91 

days after 

discharge 

from hospital 

into 

reablement / 

rehabilitation 

services 

 70% 80% Following COVID, Lewisham's plans 

are to increase discharges supported 

by enablement/rehab during 2021/22.  

Work is underway to grow and 

transform the services to support more 

complex discharges. 

 
Joint commissioning in Lewisham 
 

Lewisham has an integrated commissioning team across the CCG and LA governed 

by section 75 agreements. The team is based within the local authority and covers the 

following commissioning areas: 

Complex care and learning disability – including residential and nursing care, 

Day care, LD supported living and continuing health care; 

Community care and support - including the Community Health Contract, end 

of life, carers support, community equipment and home care; 

Prevention and inclusion – including supporting accommodation pathways for 

children and young people, vulnerable adults and mental health.  This also 

includes most aspects of public health commissioning including sexual health, 

substance misuse, obesity and health checks; 

Mental Health - including working age adults and older adults, voluntary sector 

commissioning and the development and delivery of the all age mental health 

alliance.  

The integrated commissioning team work collaboratively with statutory, independent 

sector and voluntary and community sector providers to deliver high quality, evidence 

based, outcome focused services which meet the needs of our residents delivering 

value for money for the health and care system 

Page 87



17 
 

Supporting Discharge  

In 2021/22, the BCF is supporting safe and timely discharge and the continued 

implementation of Home First by ensuring there is 7-day working within the Hospital 

Transfer of Care Hub (TOCH), and staff available for post-discharge home visits and 

assessments. The BCF continues to fund Trusted Assessors working to enable faster 

and safer discharges to care homes, social worker presence in the TOCH to improve 

discharge planning from the point of admission, and enablement support for up to 6 

weeks following discharge. 

The Discharge delivery model, including ongoing improvement work, is agreed 

between the Trust, Council and CCG, and led by a steering group chaired by the local 

Discharge Lead, who is the Borough DASS. The improvement work being 

implemented includes developing a regular engagement forum with users and carers, 

enhancing care provision and enablement to provide services at home for patients 

with more complex needs, and improving communication between post-discharge 

teams.  

Lewisham is the pilot site for a D2A self-assessment, an approach which is due to be 

adopted across all London Boroughs.  This self-assessment has taken place with the 

participation of hospital and community-based teams involved in patient discharge to 

identify where further improvement activity can be delivered.   

The Discharge Improvement work supported by the Lewisham system transformation 

team is linking with ECIST ward-level improvement work at University Hospital 

Lewisham, and is closely aligned with the improvement work supported by Newton 

Europe for the Borough Council.  

The aim of all this work is to improve patient experience, reduce length of stay (LoS), 

avoid unplanned admissions, improve discharges to care homes and improve 

enablement outcomes.   

Through proactive management with weekly escalation meetings to senior leadership, 

length of stay at UHL is reducing year on year and further improvements are expected.   

BCF-funded schemes including the Disabled Facilities Grant, the provision of 

equipment, Falls service and the Lewisham Integrated Medication Optimisation 

Service (LIMOS) also continue to support timely and effective discharge and keep 

people safe at home.   

Lewisham has historically high rates of care home placements. This was further 

exacerbated by Covid and high numbers of people entered residential/nursing care in 

20/21.  Lewisham has placed extra focus on Pathway 3 discharges, with early 

discharge planning taking place at ward level and will be providing increased 

investment in care navigators on the wards from December 2021.  A further review of 

Pathway 3 discharges is currently in hand to establish what more could be done to 

reduce admissions to care homes as well as providing better support to care homes 

to reduce hospital admissions. 

Page 88



18 
 

In further support of Home First delivery, Lewisham has increased the number of 

discharges which are supported by Enablement/Rehabilitation services and has 

trialled an Enhanced Care service to provide wrap-around 24-hr care at home 

following discharge. This service provides enhanced care to people with complex 

needs allowing valuable recuperation time while they settle back into their own homes.   

Work is also underway to transform and grow the current enablement service to 

facilitate more complex discharges home, for patients who might otherwise have 

required care home provision. This team is also increasingly delivering step-up 

interventions to keep people safe at home. Finally, the implementation of the Urgent 

Community Response service in Lewisham, launched last year, provides a safety-net 

for deteriorating patients in the community. This includes providing multi-disciplinary 

support for recently discharged patients, reducing the risk of re-admission.  

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) and wider services 

Lewisham Council’s contribution to the BCF includes the DFG allocation of £1,518,970 

in 2020/21. In funding adaptations to homes and assisting residents with their access 

and mobility in their homes, the DFG plays an important part in helping people to live 

independently for as long as possible.  

In 2020/2021, 67 major adaptations were completed. 60 customers (90%) who 

received adaptations said they were satisfied with the service and that their quality of 

life and well-being had improved.  £1.1m was spent in FY 2020/2021. 

This expenditure has resulted in reduced costs to the health and care system by:   

 supporting older elderly, disabled people and their carers to manage their 

health and wellbeing and remain independent at home,  

• delaying and avoiding moves into residential care,  

 reducing demand for NHS services and reducing people delayed in hospital 

while awaiting home adaptations,  

 helping in the prevention of high cost acute incidents, such as falls in the home. 

During 2021/22, Housing and Adult Social Care will continue to work closely together. 

The Housing Improvement and Assistance Team has jointly created a triage system 

with Adult Social Care to ensure that straightforward adaptions are referred to Trusted 

Assessors to be carried out quickly and effectively.  

The DFG funds a Health and Housing coordinator post who has continued to forge 

stronger links between housing adaptions delivery and the hospital.  The coordinator 

links into hospital discharge, falls and dementia pathways. The role also provides links 

with the voluntary sector to mobilise resources in delivering joined-up support for older 

people.  This includes links to Green Gym, Lewisham and Southwark Age UK and 

other social prescribing activity. 

The DFG also funds Lewisham’s hoarding service.  Due to the extent of the hoarding 

issues in Lewisham the housing team and hoarding officer continue to work closely 

Page 89



19 
 

together.  The DFG also funds hoarding clearances and supports services for 

residents in the borough who have been referred by the Hoarding Officer or the Health 

and Housing Coordinator to address their hoarding issues.  

Lewisham’s early intervention approach helps to identify a patient’s housing and other 

needs and provides holistic, collaborative and innovative interventions to address the 

root causes.  Community support and assistance is ongoing to meet a person’s 

identified needs, reducing readmission to hospital as well as tackling any health or 

social inequalities identified.          

The Housing Improvement and Assistance Team are strengthening their relationships 

with housing partners to ensure suitable adaptable properties are identified early 

on.   A steering group has been created between Adult Social Care, Housing, and 

Housing Improvement and Assistance Team to identify adaptable properties as well 

as influencing development partners to build more fully accessible properties to 

combat a rising shortage of accessible and adaptable properties.  

Energy Efficiency and Fuel Poverty has also been a key aspect in the housing support 

offered.  Surveyors /Trusted Assessors carry out an HHSRS inspection to all DFG 

applicants’ properties to identify any Category 1 or 2 hazards that require repairing.   

The Housing Improvement and Assistance Team is currently working in partnership 

with South London Energy Partnership Team to meet the needs of Lewisham’s 

vulnerable resident applicants who have no heating or boiler for example. They are 

also working in partnership with Foundations Warm and Adapted Homes scheme and 

Surveyors are currently undertaking NEA level 2 certification in Energy advice and fuel 

poverty which, on completion, will enable them to advise clients on energy efficiency 

and fuel poverty measures that can be taken to improve their property. 

For those who have no boiler, officers are looking at the possibility of installing heat 

pumps instead of conventional boilers to cut carbon emission footprints of the 

properties.        

The Housing Improvement and Assistance Team is also working with Adult Social 

Care to progress the incorporation of smart technology into recommendations and 

designs.  This would allow disabled and visually impaired applicants to live more 

independently within their homes.  

Conclusion  

Although the schemes funded through the Better Care Fund and Improved Better Care 

Fund in 2021/22 have not changed significantly from those that received funding in 

2020/2021, all schemes have been reviewed to ensure that they continue to support 

and deliver against the LHCP’s priority areas and contribute to the achievement of the 

BCF metrics. 

Page 90


	Agenda
	1 Minute of the Health  Wellbeing Board meeting of 8th September 2021
	2 Declarations of interest
	3 Local COVID-19 Outbreak Engagement Board update
	4 Lewisham Covid-19 Community Champions Programme Evaluation
	5 Lewisham Health Inequalities update
	6 Beyond data towards action - Summit event 11 November 2021
	7 One Public Estate Update Cover Report
	8 One Public Estate Update
	9 Integrated Care System Update
	10 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment Update
	11 Better Care Fund Plan 2021-22
	12 Better Care Fund Plan Narrative - Annex A

